AMERICAN UNIVERSITY OF BEIRUT

SUPERSYMMETRIC MASSIVE GRAVITY AND DARK MATTER

OLA MAAMOUN HOSSEIKY MALAEB

A dissertation submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy to the Department of Physics of the Faculty of Arts and Sciences at the American University of Beirut

> Beirut, Lebanon November 2014

AMERICAN UNIVERSITY OF BEIRUT

Supersymmetric Massive Gravity and Dark Matter

by OLA HOSSEIKY MALAEB

Approved by:

Dr. Ali Chamseddine, Professor

Dr. Ali Chamseddine, Professor Physics

Dr. Khalil Bitar, Professor Physics

Dr. Jihad Touma, Professor Physics

Law Brink

Dr. Lars Brink, Professor Chalmers University of Technology

Dr. Viatcheslav Mukhanov, Professor Ludwig Maxmillian University

Date of dissertation defense: November 27, 2014

Member of Committee

Advisor

Member of Committee

Member of Committee(Chair)

Member of Committee

AMERICAN UNIVERSITY OF BEIRUT

DISSERTATION RELEASE FORM

Student Name:	HOSSEIKY MALAI	<u>EB</u> <u>OLA</u>	MAA	MOUN	
	Last	First	N	Middle	
O Master's The	sis C	Master's Project	Doctoral	Dissertation	

X I authorize the American University of Beirut to: (a) reproduce hard or electronic copies of my thesis, dissertation, or project; (b) include such copies in the archives and digital repositories of the University; and (c) make freely available such copies to third parties for research or educational purposes.

I authorize the American University of Beirut, three years after the date of submitting my thesis, dissertation, or project, to: (a) reproduce hard or electronic copies of it; (b) include such copies in the archives and digital repositories of the University; and (c) make freely available such copies to third parties for research or educational purposes.

Ola Madaeb 12/ 2015

Signature

Date

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would like to express my deepest gratitude to my advisor Professor Ali Chamseddine for all the time he devoted for me. His immense knowledge and skills inspired and motivated me. He promoted my productivity by making me experience challenges throughout my work. His guidance and support have been of the greatest value for me.

I would also like to thank all my thesis committee members: Prof. Khalil Bitar, Prof. Jihad Touma, Prof. Lars Brink and Prof. Viatcheslav Mukhanov.

I am also grateful to all my AUB professors who taught me throughout all these years.

I would also like to thank all my friends and colleagues for making my stay at AUB pleasant. Moreover, I must acknowledge Journana for her technical support.

A very special thanks goes to my husband, Rabih Fayad. Thank you for being a true and great supporter through these past years. Without your love, constant patience and encouragement to forge ahead, I would not have finished this work.

To my daughter, Aleen Fayad: Thank you for bringing a smile to my heart and for reminding me every day that our passion should not be forgotten.

I would also like to thank my parents and my brothers for their unconditional love and for believing in me. All the support they have provided me over the years was the greatest gift anyone has ever given me.

Also, I must thank my parents and my parents-in-law for looking after Aleen so lovingly. I would also like to thank my mother-in-law for her encouragement and understanding.

AN ABSTRACT OF THE DISSERTATION OF

Ola HosseikyMalaeb

Doctor of Philosophy Major : Physics

Title : Supersymmetric Massive Gravity and Dark Matter

for

This dissertation is composed of two parts. The first is constructing the supersymmetric form of the Higgs Massive Gravity. The second part is forming the Hamiltonian formulation of the recently proposed Mimetic Dark Matter.

When four scalar fields with global Lorentz symmetry take a vacuum expectation value, diffeomorphism invariance is broken spontaneously and then the graviton acquires mass. To supersymmetrize this model, four N = 1 chiral superfields with global Lorentz symmetry are considered. The matter action is formed out of these chiral superfields and it is composed of three D-type and two F-type terms. Then, using the rules of tensor calculus, N = 1 supergravity Lagrangian is coupled to the four chiral multiplets. This will promote the global supersymmetry to a local one. Similar to the bosonic case, when the scalar components of the chiral multiplets acquire a vacuum expectation value, both diffeomorphism invariance and local supersymmetry are broken spontaneously. This will make the scalar fields, χ^A , vectors and the chiral spinors, ψ^A , spin-3/2 Rarita-Schwinger fields since the global Lorentz index A is then identified with the space-time Lorentz index. At the end, we show that in the broken phase the spectrum of the model consists of a massive spin-2 field, two massive spin-3/2 fields and a massive vector. It is similar to what we have for N = 2 supergravity, but the two gravitinos obtained have different masses.

For the second part, we construct the Hamiltonian of Mimetic Gravity. The equations of motion in this formalism are those of general relativity plus two more equations. However, these two equations are proved to be the constraint equation and the conservation of the energy-momentum tensor. Poisson brackets are computed and closure is proved. At the end, comparison with the Hamiltonian dust is done.

Contents

A	ckno	wledgments	v
A	bstra	let	vi
1	Intr	oduction	1
2	Sup	ersymmetry and Supergravity	5
	2.1	Supersymmetry and its Algebra	5
	2.2	Chiral and Vector Superfield	8
		2.2.1 Chiral Superfields	9
		2.2.2 Vector Superfield	11
	2.3	Wess Zumino Model	13
	2.4	Supersymmetric Lagrangians	14
		2.4.1 Lagrangians for Chiral Multiplets	15
		2.4.2 Lagrangians Constructed out of Vector Multiplets	16
	2.5	Supergravity	19
		2.5.1 Rarita-Schwinger Field	20
		2.5.2 Supergravity as Local Supersymmetry	21
		2.5.3 Local Symmetry from a Global One	22
	2.6	Supergravity Lagrangian	24
3	Ma	ssive Gravity	29
	3.1	History of Massive Gravity	29
	3.2	Higgs Massive Gravity	34
	3.3	vDVZ Discontinuity	36
	3.4	Boulware-Deser Ghost	38
4	Sup	ersymmetrizing Massive Gravity	43
	4.1	Going into Supersymmetry	43
	4.2	Coupling to Supergravity	45
		4.2.1 Rules of Tensor Calculus	45
		4.2.2 Constructing the Full Action	47
	4.3	Equations of Motion	52
	4.4	Degrees of Freedom	56
	4.5	LHC and Our Superpartners	57

5	Canonical Formulation			
	5.1	History	59	
	5.2	Hamiltonian Formalism	60	
	5.3	ADM Formalism	62	
	5.4	Equations of Motion of GR	64	
	5.5	Poisson Brackets of GR	66	
6	Can	onical Formulation of Mimetic Dark Matter	68	
	6.1	Mimetic Dark Matter	69	
	6.2	Hamiltonian Formulation of the Extended		
		Theory	71	
	6.3	Equations of Motion	73	
	6.4	Poisson Brackets	77	
	6.5	Canonical Formulation of Dust	81	
7	Con	clusions and Future Work	82	
A	Not	ation and Convention	85	
в	D-t	type terms		
\mathbf{C}	Cor	aponents of the Superfields	90	
U	C.1	D-type terms	92	
	C.2	F-type terms	93	
	0.2		00	

References

Chapter 1 Introduction

Dating back to 1973, the possibility of supersymmetry, a theory unifying matter and radiation, was discovered by Bruno Zumino and Julius Wess in four dimensional spacetime [79]. At that time, it was more of a purely theoretical tool than a serious possibility for the realistic theory of nature. Shortly after, it was realized that supersymmetry could be relevant to elementary particle physics. Since then it has been an attractive subject to many physicists.

Supersymmetry implies that each boson/fermion possesses a supersymmetric particle fermion/boson. It extends the Poincare symmetry algebra by introducing anticommuting symmetry generators (spinors). It is the only possible extension of the spacetime symmetry.

A supersymmetry multiplet consists of particles having the same mass but differing by spin 1/2. Therefore, if supersymmetry exists, it should be broken at an energy which should be soon accessible by the accelerators searching for the supersymmetric partners. Nevertheless, supersymmetry is still an interesting field to many physicists for several reasons.

Supersymmetry solves the hierarchy problem which is to understand the big gap

between the GUT scale and the scale of electroweak symmetry breaking. The unification scale in a grand unified theory is around 10¹⁵, but below this scale the masses of the electroweak scalars are not protected by any symmetry against quadratic divergences in perturbation theory. Supersymmetric theories solve this problem by cancellations between fermion divergencies and boson divergencies at every loop order provided there is cancellation at one loop. This is an attractive feature of supersymmetry which has better renormalizability properties than of non-supersymmetric theories.

Supergravity is an extension of general relativity including supersymmetry; therefore, the fermionic superpartner of the graviton, the spin-3/2 gravitino, is included [28]. Is is the only consistent field theory for interacting spin-3/2 fields. Supergravity is a locally supersymmetric gauge theory where gravitation is implied in a natural way once the supersymmetry transformation parameters become local.

For N = 1 supergravity, there is one real massless gravitino, while in the extended (N = 2, 3, ..., 8) theories there are N gravitinos. For N = 2, the theory contains two Majorana (one complex) gravitinos rather than a Majorana (real) gravitino.

Chapter 2.1 is mainly an introduction to supersymmetry and its algebra. Chiral and Vector superfields are presented and then it is discussed how to form supersymmetric Lagrangians. This chapter also includes a section on supergravity and the Lagrangian is stated.

In the first part of this dissertation, we are going to construct a theory of Massive Supergravity. First, what is massive gravity? Massive gravity has been studied for around 70 years. It has gained interest because it can be an answer to open questions such as the cosmological constant naturalness problem. It started with Fierz and Pauli in 1939 when they first wrote an action describing a free massive graviton [46]. Through these years, curiosities were raised and studied, such as the vDVZ discontinuity and the Boulware-Deser ghost. Chapter 3 gives a historical review of massive gravity and discusses how to form massive gravity using the Higgs mechanism.

To construct the theory of massive Supergravity, we are going to generalize the Higgs mechanism used in the formulation of massive gravity. The validity of this setting is studied in chapter 4. Upon symmetrizing massive gravity, the graviton and the gravitino both get mass due to the breakdown of diffeomorphism invariance. Therefore, we end up with a massive spin-3/2 particle plus a massive gravitino. It is an interesting theory since it is similar to N = 2 Supergravity where two spin-3/2 particles exist.

To construct our globally supersymmetric action, superfields are used and the action is written in superspace using D-terms and F-terms. Then, the rules of tensor calculus are used promoting global invariance to a local one. The Supergravity Lagrangian is then coupled to the chiral and vector multiplets using these rules, where certain conditions are forced on the final action.

Chapters 5 and 6 form the second part of the work. Constrained Hamiltonian dynamics dates back to Dirac. It is used for canonical quantization and for counting degrees of freedom. Chapter 5 gives an introduction of the Hamiltonian formulation and discusses the canonical formalism constructed by Arnowitt, Deser and Misner in 1962. The equations of motion and Poisson brackets of general relativity are also presented.

Recently, Chamseddine and Mukhanov proposed a mimetic dark matter theory ([24]) where they isolated the conformal degree of freedom in a covariant way. They found that the conformal degree of freedom can mimic the contribution of an extra pressureless fluid such as Dark Matter.

Chapter 6 deals with constructing the canonical formulation of mimetic dark matter. Equations of motion are analyzed and compared to those of GR. Furthermore, we compute the Poisson brackets checking if the algebra is closed.

Chapter 7 is the conclusion. Notation and conventions used are presented in appendix (A).

Chapter 2 Supersymmetry and Supergravity

Supersymmetry is a symmetry unifying matter with radiation. It proposes to each known particle a superpartner. Up to the writing of this thesis, no supersymmetric particles have been observed in nature. Therefore, it is still a theoretical invention. Nevertheless, it remains attractive to many scientists for several reasons, mainly because it is a solution to the hierarchy problem.

2.1 Supersymmetry and its Algebra

Particles in nature are splitted into two kinds, those with integral (bosons) and half-integral (fermions) spins. Since symmetries play an important role in the description of physical phenomena, it is natural to ask if there is a symmetry that places different spin particles in the same multiplet. Several attempts to unify the spacetime symmetry of the Poincare group with the symmetry of some internal group have been done. However, until 1974 all internal symmetries were studied but the no-go theorem of Coleman and Mandula [26] stating that, under certain physical assumptions, the largest space-time symmetry possible is the Poincare symmetry shows that the invariance group can at best be the direct product of the Poincare group and an internal group.

The most general Lie algebra of symmetries of the S-matrix, as demonstrated by the theorem of Coleman and Mandula, contains P_{μ} , $M_{\mu\nu}$, and B_l with the following commutating relations

$$[P_{\mu}, B_{l}] = 0, \quad [M_{\mu\nu}, B_{l}] = 0$$
$$[B_{l}, B_{m}] = ic_{lm}^{\ k} B_{k}. \tag{2.1}$$

 P_{μ} is the energy momentum operator, $M_{\mu\nu}$ is the Lorentz rotation generator, and B_l are Lorentz scalar operators constituting a Lie algebra where the $c_{lm}^{\ k}$ are the structure constants of the Lie algebra of the internal symmetry group.

The restrictions of the Coleman-Mandula theorem were avoided by relaxing one condition. Haag, Lopuszanski and Sohnius [68] generalized the notion of a Lie algebra by involving not only the usual commutators but also anticommutators. The simple extension was considering \mathbb{Z}_2 graded algebras (superalgebras) whose generators are classified into two classes, even (bosonic) and odd (fermionic) and they obey

$$[even, even] = even, \quad [even, odd] = odd, \quad \{odd, odd\} = even.$$
(2.2)

For every generator A in the graded Lie algebra, there is an associated number a such that

$$a = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{if } A \text{ is even} \\ 1 & \text{if } A \text{ is odd} \end{cases}$$
(2.3)

The graded commutator is defined by

$$[A, B] = AB - (-1)^{ab} BA$$
(2.4)

and it satisfies the graded Jacobi identity

$$[A, [B, C]\} + (-1)^{a(b+c)} [B, [C, A]\} + (-1)^{c(a+b)} [C, \{A, B\}] = 0.$$
(2.5)

Therefore, the simplest version to generalize the Poincare algebra to a superalgebra is enlarging it by including a spinor generator Q. This symmetry generator is fermionic and it turns a bosonic state into a fermionic one and vice versa. A supersymmetry transformation can be written as

$$Q|boson \rangle = |fermion \rangle, \quad Q|fermion \rangle = |boson \rangle.$$
 (2.6)

Since this added generator Q to the Poincare algebra has a fermionic character, then a left handed Weyl spinor is introduced, Q_{α} ($\alpha = 1, 2$). Its Hermitian adjoint is a right handed Weyl spinor, $\bar{Q}_{\dot{\beta}}$. Their algebraic relations are given by [78]

$$\{Q_{\alpha}, Q_{\beta}\} = 0$$

$$\{Q_{\alpha}, \bar{Q}_{\dot{\beta}}\} = 2\sigma^{\mu}_{\alpha\dot{\beta}}P_{\mu}$$

$$\{\bar{Q}^{\dot{\alpha}}, Q^{\beta}\} = 2\bar{\sigma}^{\mu\dot{\alpha}\beta}P_{\mu}$$

$$\{\bar{Q}_{\dot{\alpha}}, \bar{Q}_{\dot{\beta}}\} = 0$$

$$[M_{\mu\nu}, Q_{\alpha}] = -(\sigma_{\mu\nu})^{\beta}_{\alpha}Q_{\beta}$$

$$[M_{\mu\nu}, \bar{Q}^{\dot{\alpha}}] = -(\bar{\sigma}_{\mu\nu})^{\dot{\alpha}}_{\dot{\beta}}\bar{Q}^{\dot{\beta}}$$

$$[P^{\mu}, Q_{\alpha}] = 0. \qquad (2.7)$$

Supersymmetry thus arises as an extension of Poincare symmetry mixing bosons with fermions. It combines superpartners, both bosons and fermions states, in an irreducible representation called supermultiplet which encompasses both the transformations of the Poincare group and the appropriate supersymmetry transformations.

2.2 Chiral and Vector Superfield

A superfield $S(x, \theta, \overline{\theta})$ differs from an ordinary field by being a function of both the spacetime coordinates x^{μ} , and also of anticommuting Grassmann variables θ_{α} and $\overline{\theta}_{\dot{\alpha}}$. The latter transforms as two-component Weyl spinors with

$$\{\theta_{\alpha}, \theta_{\alpha}\} = \{\theta_{\alpha}, \bar{\theta}_{\dot{\beta}}\} = \{\bar{\theta}_{\dot{\alpha}}, \bar{\theta}_{\dot{\beta}}\} = 0.$$
(2.8)

The mass dimension of the Grassmann variables is $[\theta^{\alpha}] = [\bar{\theta}^{\dot{\alpha}}] = -1/2$, whereas the dimension of the coordinate [x] = 1. The coefficients in an expansion of a superfield, $S(x, \theta, \bar{\theta})$, in powers of θ and $\bar{\theta}$, are the fields of the supermultiplets.

2.2.1 Chiral Superfields

If the superfield satisfies the constraint $\bar{D}_{\dot{\alpha}}\Phi(x,\theta,\bar{\theta}) = 0$, where \bar{D} is the covariant derivative given by

$$\bar{D}_{\dot{\alpha}} = -\frac{\partial}{\partial\bar{\theta}^{\dot{\alpha}}} - i\theta^{\alpha}\sigma^{\mu}_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}\partial_{\mu}$$
(2.9)

then it is called a left handed chiral superfield $(LH\chi SF)$. Such a superfield is given by

$$\Phi(x^{\mu},\theta,\bar{\theta}) = \varphi(x) + \sqrt{2}\theta\psi(x) + \theta\theta F(x) + i\partial_{\mu}\varphi\theta\sigma^{\mu}\bar{\theta} - \frac{i}{\sqrt{2}}\theta\theta\partial_{\mu}\psi\sigma^{\mu}\bar{\theta} - \frac{1}{4}\partial_{\mu}\partial^{\mu}\varphi\theta\theta\bar{\theta}\bar{\theta}.$$
(2.10)

It has the same number of fermionic and bosonic degrees of freedom where its component fields are two scalar fields, φ and F, and a Weyl spinor ψ .

Under an infinitesimal supersymmetry transformation, the behaviour of the superfield Φ is given by [78]

$$\Phi \to \Phi + \delta \Phi \tag{2.11}$$

with

$$\delta \Phi = \left(\zeta Q + \bar{\zeta} \bar{Q}\right) \Phi \tag{2.12}$$

where Q and \bar{Q} are differential operators given by

$$Q = \frac{\partial}{\partial \theta^{\alpha}} - i\sigma^{\mu}_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}\bar{\theta}^{\dot{\alpha}}\partial_{\mu}$$
$$\bar{Q} = \frac{\partial}{\partial\bar{\theta}^{\dot{\alpha}}} - i\theta^{\alpha}\sigma^{\mu}_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}\partial_{\mu}.$$
(2.13)

From this we can derive the supersymmetry transformations of the component fields in the expansion (2.10). It is found that

$$\delta\varphi = \sqrt{2}\zeta\psi$$

$$\delta\psi = \sqrt{2}\zeta F - \sqrt{2} \ \partial_{\mu}\varphi\sigma^{\mu}\bar{\zeta}$$

$$\delta F = i\sqrt{2} \ \partial_{\mu}\psi\sigma^{\mu}\bar{\zeta}$$
(2.14)

It should be noted that the change in F is a total derivative. This will be used in constructing Lagrangians.

The conjugate superfield Φ^{\dagger} satisfies the constraint

$$D_{\alpha}\Phi^{\dagger} = 0, \qquad (2.15)$$

where

$$D_{\alpha} = \frac{\partial}{\partial \theta^{\alpha}} + i\sigma^{\mu}_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}\bar{\theta}^{\dot{\alpha}}\partial_{\mu}$$
(2.16)

It is called the right chiral superfield. Therefore, we can say that a chiral multiplet is the combination of a two-component Weyl fermion and a complex scalar field, related by supersymmetric transformations.

2.2.2 Vector Superfield

The chiral superfields introduced above do not have a vector field as component field. Thus, vector superfields are introduced to involve gauge vector bosons (with helicity eigenstates ± 1) and their fermionic supersymmetric partners, gauginos (having helicity eigenstates $\pm 1/2$) [9]. Therefore, the vector superfield should involve a real gauge field $V_{\mu}(x)$ and its fermionic partner $\lambda_{\alpha}(x)$. Starting with a general superfield given as an expansion in θ and $\bar{\theta}$, we have

$$S(x,\theta,\bar{\theta}) = f(x) + \theta\varphi(x) + \bar{\theta}\bar{\chi}(x) + \theta\theta m(x) + \bar{\theta}\bar{\theta}n(x) + \theta\sigma^{\mu}\bar{\theta}V_{\mu}(x) + \theta\theta\bar{\theta}\bar{\lambda}(x) + \bar{\theta}\bar{\theta}\theta\psi(x) + \theta\theta\bar{\theta}\bar{\theta}\bar{d}(x)$$
(2.17)

where all higher powers of θ , $\bar{\theta}$ vanish. f, m, n, d are scalar fields, V_{μ} is a vector field, and $\varphi, \psi, \bar{\chi}, \bar{\lambda}$ are Weyl spinor fields. The vector superfield, V, is defined by the constraint $V(x, \theta, \bar{\theta}) = V^{\dagger}(x, \theta, \bar{\theta})$. This requirement gives

$$f = f^* \qquad V_{\mu} = V_{\mu}^* \qquad d = d^*$$
$$m^* = n \qquad \varphi = \chi \qquad \lambda = \psi.$$

Therefore, it contains altogether sixteen degrees of freedom, eight bosonic degrees of freedom and eight fermionic degrees of freedom. It has two Weyl spinors with complex components; thus, each has four real fermionic degrees. These are matched by eight real bosonic degrees, $d(1), f(1), m(2), V_{\mu}(4)$. It is convenient to rewrite the vector superfield using particular field combinations (dictated by $\Phi + \Phi^{\dagger}$) for the coefficients of the $\theta\theta\bar{\theta}$, $\bar{\theta}\theta\theta$ and $\theta\theta\bar{\theta}\bar{\theta}$ components of V. Then we have

$$V\left(x,\theta,\bar{\theta}\right) = C\left(x\right) + i\theta\chi\left(x\right) - i\bar{\theta}\bar{\chi}\left(x\right) + \frac{1}{2}i\theta\theta\left[M(x) + iN(x)\right] - \frac{1}{2}i\bar{\theta}\bar{\theta}\left[M(x) - iN(x)\right] + \theta\sigma^{\mu}\bar{\theta}V_{\mu}(x) + i\theta\theta\bar{\theta}\left[\bar{\lambda}(x) + \frac{i}{2}\bar{\sigma}^{\mu}\partial_{\mu}\chi(x)\right] - i\bar{\theta}\bar{\theta}\theta\left[\lambda(x) + \frac{i}{2}\sigma^{\mu}\partial_{\mu}\bar{\chi}(x)\right] + \frac{1}{2}\theta\theta\bar{\theta}\bar{\theta}\left[D - \frac{1}{2}\partial_{\mu}\partial^{\mu}C\right]$$
(2.18)

where C, M, N, D are real scalar fields, V_{μ} is a (real) vector field, and χ, λ are Weyl spinor fields. It is the vector V_{μ} that lends its name to the multiplet. Under a supersymmetry transformation

$$\delta_{\zeta} V = i \left(\zeta Q + \bar{\zeta} \bar{Q} \right) V, \qquad (2.19)$$

where Q and \bar{Q} are defined in (2.13), we get for the transformations of the component fields

$$\delta C = i \left(\zeta \chi - \bar{\zeta} \bar{\chi} \right)$$

$$\delta \lambda_{\alpha} = -i D \zeta_{\alpha} - \frac{1}{2} \left(\sigma^{\mu} \bar{\sigma}^{\nu} \right)_{\alpha}^{\ \beta} \zeta_{\beta} V_{\mu\nu}$$

$$\delta V^{\mu} = i \left(\zeta \sigma^{\mu} \bar{\lambda} - \lambda \sigma^{\mu} \bar{\zeta} \right) - \partial^{\mu} \left(\zeta \chi - \bar{\zeta} \bar{\chi} \right)$$

$$\delta D = \partial_{\mu} \left(-\zeta \sigma^{\mu} \bar{\lambda} + \lambda \sigma^{\mu} \bar{\zeta} \right)$$
(2.20)

where $V_{\mu\nu} = \partial_{\mu}V_{\nu} - \partial_{\nu}V_{\mu}$ and its transformation is given by

$$\delta V^{\mu\nu} = i\partial^{\mu} \left(\zeta \sigma^{\nu} \bar{\lambda} - \lambda \sigma^{\nu} \bar{\zeta} \right) - i\partial^{\nu} \left(\zeta \sigma^{\mu} \bar{\lambda} - \lambda \sigma^{\mu} \bar{\zeta} \right)$$
(2.21)

Similar to the variation of the F-field, that of the D-field is also a total divergence. Also, $\partial_{\mu}\partial^{\mu}C$ transforms as a total derivative; therefore, so does the full coefficient of $\theta\theta\bar{\theta}\bar{\theta}$ in the vector supermultiplet.

2.3 Wess Zumino Model

A vector superfield can be constructed simply from a chiral superfield Φ and an anti-chiral superfield Φ^{\dagger} . For instance

$$i(\Phi - \Phi^{\dagger}) = i(\varphi - \varphi^{\dagger}) + i\sqrt{2}(\theta\psi - \bar{\theta}\bar{\psi}\psi) + i\theta\theta F - i\bar{\theta}\bar{\theta}F^{\dagger} - \theta\sigma^{\mu}\bar{\theta}\partial_{\mu}(\varphi + \varphi^{\dagger}) - \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\theta\theta\bar{\theta}\bar{\sigma}^{\mu}\partial_{\mu}\psi + \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\bar{\theta}\bar{\theta}\theta\sigma^{\mu}\partial_{\mu}\bar{\psi} - \frac{1}{4}i\theta\theta\bar{\theta}\bar{\theta}\partial_{\mu}\partial^{\mu}(\varphi - \varphi^{\dagger})$$
(2.22)

satisfies the reality requirement. The coefficient of $\theta \sigma^{\mu} \bar{\theta}$, the vector potential V_{μ} , is a pure U(l) gauge transformation. This led Wess and Zumino to suggest the following supersymmetric generalization of gauge invariance [79]

$$V(x,\theta,\bar{\theta}) \to V(x,\theta,\bar{\theta}) + i \left[\Phi(x,\theta,\bar{\theta}) - \Phi^{\dagger}(x,\theta,\bar{\theta}) \right]$$
(2.23)

Under this transformation, we find by comparing with equation (2.18) that

$$C \to C + i(\varphi - \varphi^{\dagger})$$

 $\chi \to \chi + \sqrt{2}\psi$
 $\frac{1}{2}(M + iN) \to \frac{1}{2}(M + iN) + F$

$$V_{\mu} \to V_{\mu} - \partial_{\mu}(\varphi + \varphi^{\dagger})$$
$$\lambda \to \lambda$$
$$D \to D$$
(2.24)

From (2.24) we see that in a gauge theory the fields C, χ, M and N are all gauge artifacts since they can be eliminated by adjusting $\varphi - \varphi^{\dagger}, \psi, F$ while still leaving $\varphi + \varphi^{\dagger}$ arbitrary. The fields $\lambda, \bar{\lambda}, D$ are gauge invariant while V_{μ} transforms as $V_{\mu} \rightarrow V_{\mu} + \partial_{\mu}\Lambda$. Then in the 'Wess-Zumino' gauge the multiplet reduces to V_{μ}, λ and D, and the vector superfield reduces to

$$V_{WZ}\left(x,\theta,\bar{\theta}\right) = \theta\sigma^{\mu}\bar{\theta}V_{\mu}(x) + i\theta\theta\bar{\theta}\bar{\lambda}(x) - i\bar{\theta}\bar{\theta}\theta\lambda(x) + \frac{1}{2}\theta\theta\bar{\theta}\bar{\theta}D(x)$$
(2.25)

The field D, which is the coefficient of $\theta\theta\bar{\theta}\bar{\theta}$, transforms as a total derivative. The advantage of this gauge is that all powers of V_{WZ}^n with n > 2 vanish since they will involve at least θ^3 . The only non-zero power is

$$V_{WZ}^{2}\left(x,\theta,\bar{\theta}\right) = \left(\theta\sigma^{\mu}\bar{\theta}\right)\left(\theta\sigma^{\nu}\bar{\theta}\right)V_{\mu}V_{\nu} = \theta^{\alpha}\left(\sigma^{\mu}\right)_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}\bar{\theta}^{\dot{\alpha}}\theta^{\beta}\left(\sigma^{\nu}\right)_{\beta\dot{\beta}}\bar{\theta}^{\dot{\beta}}V_{\mu}V_{\nu}$$
$$= \frac{1}{2}\theta\theta\bar{\theta}\bar{\theta}V_{\mu}V^{\mu} \tag{2.26}$$

2.4 Supersymmetric Lagrangians

When constructing supersymmetric theories, matter fields (for example quarks) and their supersymmetric partners (squarks) are assigned to the chiral su-

perfields discussed above. While vector superfields provide the gauge fields. In the same multiplet, their fermionic supersymmetric partners, the gauginos, are associated with them.

To construct a supersymmetric Lagrangian, we must use terms invariant under a supersymmetry transformation up to a total derivative. As discussed before, for a chiral superfield, the F-term transforms as a total derivative. While for a vector superfield, it is the D-term that is invariant up to a total derivative. Therefore, the Lagrangian of a supersymmetric theory is given by the sum of the F-term of a chiral superfield (i.e. the $\theta\theta$ component of a $LH\chi SF$ or the $\bar{\theta}\bar{\theta}$ component of a $RH\chi SF$) and the D-term of a vector superfield (i.e. the $\theta\theta\bar{\theta}\bar{\theta}$ component). This guarantees that the theory is invariant under supersymmetric transformations.

2.4.1 Lagrangians for Chiral Multiplets

Supersymmetric Lagrangians of chiral multiplets can be constructed from products of chiral superfields. The product of two left chiral superfields $(\Phi_i \Phi_j)$ is again a left chiral superfield (consequently for right chiral superfields). However, the product of a left chiral superfield and a right chiral superfield $(\Phi_i^{\dagger} \Phi_j)$ gives a vector superfield. Therefore, in general, the Lagrangian can be written as [78]

$$\mathcal{L} = \int d\theta^4 \, \Sigma_i \Phi_i^{\dagger} \Phi_i + \left(\int d^2 \theta W(\Phi) + h.c. \right)$$
(2.27)

where D- and F-terms are projected out by the superspace integration. The superpotential, $W(\Phi)$, involves up to the third power of the superfield Φ_i as required by renormalizability. It is given by

$$W(\Phi) = \frac{1}{2}m_{ij}\Phi_i\Phi_j + \frac{1}{3}\lambda_{ijk}\Phi_i\Phi_j\Phi_k, \qquad (2.28)$$

where the coefficients, m_{ij} and λ_{ijk} , are real and symmetric in their indices. The mass terms and the couplings of the component fields are provided by the superpotential; however, it does not provide kinetic terms. The latter are provided by $(\Phi_i^{\dagger}\Phi_j)$.

The above Lagrangian expressed in terms of component fields, apart from surface terms, is given by

$$\mathcal{L} = \partial_{\mu}\varphi_{i}\partial^{\mu}\varphi_{i}^{\dagger} + i\bar{\psi}_{i}\bar{\sigma}^{\mu}\partial_{\mu}\psi_{i} + F_{i}^{\dagger}F_{i} + \left(m_{ij}\varphi_{i}F_{j} - \frac{1}{2}m_{ij}\psi_{i}\psi_{j} + \lambda_{ijk}\varphi_{i}\varphi_{j}F_{k} - \lambda_{ijk}\psi_{i}\psi_{j}\varphi_{k} + h.c.\right)$$

$$(2.29)$$

where the auxiliary field F and its complex conjugate F^{\dagger} can be removed by their equations of motions.

2.4.2 Lagrangians Constructed out of Vector Multiplets

The Lagrangian written above does not contain spin-1 component fields since vector superfields are not included. Out of these vector superfields, a supersymmetric gauge field theory can be formed by combining gauge symmetry with supersymmetry. After all, our vector bosons are supposed to be gauge bosons. In the non-supersymmetric case, we know that the vector potential transforms as

$$V_{\mu}(x) \rightarrow V'_{\mu}(x) = V_{\mu}(x) + \partial_{\mu}\Lambda(x)$$
 (2.30)

under the U(1) gauge transformation. As discussed in section (2.3), Wess and Zumino supersymmetrized this transformation by noting that V_{μ} is a component of the vector superfield, and from $i(\Phi - \Phi^{\dagger})$ (equation 2.22), it is clear that $\partial_{\mu}\Lambda \equiv$ $\partial_{\mu}(\phi + \phi^{\dagger})$. Therefore, they suggested that the superfield transforms as in equation (2.23), which is repeated here for convenience,

$$V(x,\theta,\bar{\theta}) \to V'(x,\theta,\bar{\theta}) = V(x,\theta,\bar{\theta}) + i\left[\Phi(x,\theta,\bar{\theta}) - \Phi^{\dagger}(x,\theta,\bar{\theta})\right]$$
(2.31)

under a U(1) gauge transformation.

Noticing that [78]

$$D_{\alpha}V \to D_{\alpha}V + i\left(D_{\alpha}\Phi - D_{\alpha}\Phi^{\dagger}\right)$$

 $\to D_{\alpha}V + iD_{\alpha}\Phi$

since $D_{\alpha}\Phi^{\dagger} = 0$ from the chirality condition, we can obtain an invariant under the transformation (2.31) by eliminating the term $D_{\alpha}\Phi$. Therefore, multiplying by $\bar{D}_{\dot{\alpha}}$ we get

$$\bar{D}_{\dot{\alpha}} D_{\alpha} V \to \bar{D}_{\dot{\alpha}} D_{\alpha} V + i \bar{D}_{\dot{\alpha}} D_{\alpha} \Phi$$
$$\to \bar{D}_{\dot{\alpha}} D_{\alpha} V + i \left[\left\{ \bar{D}_{\dot{\alpha}}, D_{\alpha} \right\} - D_{\alpha} \bar{D}_{\dot{\alpha}} \right] \Phi$$

$$\to \bar{D}_{\dot{\alpha}} D_{\alpha} V - 2\sigma^{\mu}_{\alpha \dot{\alpha}} \partial_{\mu} \Phi$$

again using the chirality condition and also using the anticommutator relation between D_{α} and $\bar{D}_{\dot{\alpha}}$

$$\left\{ D_{\alpha}, \bar{D}_{\dot{\alpha}} \right\} = -2i\sigma^{\mu}_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}\partial_{\mu}. \tag{2.32}$$

From this it is deduced that

$$\bar{D}^2 D_{\alpha} V \to \bar{D}^2 D_{\alpha} V.$$

Defining

$$W_{\alpha} = \bar{D}^2 D_{\alpha} V; \qquad \bar{W}_{\dot{\alpha}} = D^2 \bar{D}_{\dot{\alpha}} V, \qquad (2.33)$$

it follows that $\bar{D}_{\dot{\beta}}W_{\alpha} = 0$ because $\bar{D}_{\dot{\alpha}}\bar{D}\bar{D} = 0$.

 W_{α} and $\overline{W}_{\dot{\alpha}}$ are a left-handed chiral superfield and a right-handed chiral superfield respectively. Therefore, these superfields are chiral and gauge covariant. Due to this chirality, the supersymmetric pure gauge theory is constructed out of the Fcomponent of $W^{\alpha}W_{\alpha}$. Then

$$\int d^2\theta W^{\alpha} W_{\alpha} \tag{2.34}$$

is a susy invariant Lagrangian. Calculation yields

$$\frac{1}{32} \left(W^{\alpha} W_{\alpha} \right)_{F} = -\frac{1}{4} V^{\mu\nu} V_{\mu\nu} + i\lambda \sigma^{\mu} \partial_{\mu} \bar{\lambda} - \frac{i}{4} \epsilon_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma} V^{\mu\nu} V^{\rho\sigma} + \frac{1}{2} D^{2}.$$
(2.35)

This is the supersymmetric generalization of the kinetic terms $-\frac{1}{4}V^{\mu\nu}V_{\mu\nu}$ of the U(l)

gauge field. The auxiliary field D can be eliminated using its equations of motion and λ represents the gaugino contribution.

Similar to the above supersymmetric extension of the U(1) abelian gauge invariance, we have that of the non-abelian gauge invariance that occurs in electroweak theory, quantum chromodynamics and grand unified theories.

The non-abelian analog of the field strength superfield W_{α} is the chiral superfield given by

$$W_{\alpha} = (2ig)^{-1} \bar{D}^2 e^{-V} \left(D_{\alpha} e^V \right)$$
(2.36)

where $V = 2gV^a t^a$. V^a are the vector superfields containing the non-abelian vector bosons and t^a are the Hermitian matrices constituting the representation of a nonabelian group G satisfying

$$\begin{bmatrix} t^a, t^b \end{bmatrix} = i f^{abc} t^c \tag{2.37}$$

where the f^{abc} are the totally antisymmetric structure constant of G. In this case, the pure gauge-invariant and supersymmetric contribution to the Lagrangian is given by [9]

$$\mathcal{L} = \frac{1}{64} \left[tr \left(W^{\alpha} W_{\alpha} \right) + tr \left(W_{\alpha}^{\dagger} W^{\alpha \dagger} \right) \right]_{F}.$$
(2.38)

2.5 Supergravity

The oldest known force is the gravitational force, but it is still the least un-

derstood. This is mainly due to the fact that gravitational experiments are difficult to perform because the gravitational constant κ is small. Moreover, this gravitational constant is dimensionful and this prevented the formulation of a renormalizable quantum theory of gravity. The marriage of special relativity and quantum mechanics has been successfully done forming quantum field theory. This provided renormalizable field theories for QCD and QFT. However, up to now Einstein's gravity has proved difficult to treat with any quantum theory. Supergravity comes in as a theory that, though nonrenormalizable, still has predictive power. It is a field theory, based upon the principles of special and general relativity and of quantum mechanics, describing gravity and the other interactions [77].

Supergravity is an extension of general relativity combining the principles of supersymmetry and general relativity. Its Lagrangian field theory was formulated in 1976 [27]. Due to the symmetry between bosons and fermions, a pure supergravity theory includes the spin-2 graviton plus its supersymmetric particle, the gravitino. The gravitino is a hypothetical spin 3/2 particle described by the Rarita-Schwinger field.

2.5.1 Rarita-Schwinger Field

The kinetic term for the gravitino, ϕ_{μ} , is provided by the massless Rarita-Schwinger action which is given by

$$\frac{1}{2} \int d^4 x \epsilon^{\mu\nu\rho\sigma} \bar{\phi}_{\mu} \gamma_5 \gamma_{\nu} \partial_{\rho} \phi_{\sigma} \tag{2.39}$$

where our conventions are given in appendix (A). This action is invariant under the

 ${\it transformation}$

$$\phi_{\mu} \to \phi_{\mu} + \partial_{\mu}\eta \tag{2.40}$$

where η is a Majorana spinor parameter. The Rarita-Schwinger field equation is given by

$$\epsilon^{\mu\nu\rho\sigma}\gamma_5\gamma_\nu\partial_\rho\phi_\sigma = 0 \tag{2.41}$$

which can be written in an alternative form

$$\gamma^{\mu} \left(\partial_{\mu} \phi_{\nu} - \partial_{\nu} \phi_{\mu} \right) = 0. \tag{2.42}$$

2.5.2 Supergravity as Local Supersymmetry

Supersymmetry is a global symmetry of the Lagrangian; however, it may be promoted to a local symmetry. Local supersymmetry is a theory of general coordinate transformations of spacetime. To see this we consider supersymmetry transformations. In section (2.2) we saw that a supersymmetry transformation changes fermionic into bosonic particles and vice versa which can be written schematically as [1]

$$\delta B = \bar{\epsilon}F, \quad \delta F = \epsilon \partial B \tag{2.43}$$

where B and F represent bosonic and fermionic particles respectively and ϵ is the infinitesimal supersymmetry parameter. By allowing this parameter to depend on space-time coordinates, $\epsilon = \epsilon(x)$, the symmetry will become local and then the commutator of two infinitesimal supersymmetry transformations will yield

$$[\delta_{\epsilon_1}, \delta_{\epsilon_2}] B = (\bar{\epsilon}_1 \gamma^{\mu} \epsilon_2) (x) \partial_{\mu} B.$$
(2.44)

The space-time dependent vector field $(\bar{\epsilon}_1 \gamma^{\mu} \epsilon_2)(x)$ shows that a locally supersymmetric theory will necessarily be diffeomorphism invariant and this is achieved by including Einstein's general relativity.

2.5.3 Local Symmetry from a Global One

One way to construct a theory with local symmetry from a global one is the Noether method. Consider the Dirac Lagrangian

$$L = \bar{\psi} \left(i \gamma^{\mu} \partial_{\mu} - m \right) \psi \tag{2.45}$$

which is invariant under the global symmetry

$$\psi(x) \to e^{\frac{i}{4}\Lambda^{ab}\gamma_{ab}}\psi(x).$$
 (2.46)

However, promoting this global symmetry to a local one, the phase will then depend on the space-time coordinate, $\Lambda = \Lambda(x)$. Since this is no longer a symmetry for the Lagrangian, the invariance of the Dirac equation is restored under local Lorentz transformations by introducing the covariant derivative

$$D_{\mu} = \partial_{\mu} + \frac{1}{4} \omega_{\mu}^{\ ab} \gamma_{ab}. \tag{2.47}$$

This is analogous to the electromagnetic case. The Lagrangian $\bar{\psi} (i\gamma^{\mu}D_{\mu} - m) \psi$ becomes invariant provided that

$$\omega_{\mu}^{'ab} = \partial_{\mu}\Lambda^{ab} + \omega_{\mu}{}^{ac}\Lambda_{c}{}^{b} - \omega_{\mu}{}^{bc}\Lambda_{c}{}^{a}.$$
(2.48)

The commutator of two covariant derivatives gives the curvature tensor which is defined by

$$[D_{\mu}, D_{\nu}] = \frac{1}{4} R^{ab}_{\mu\nu} \gamma_{ab}, \qquad (2.49)$$

where it can be easily found that

$$R^{ab}_{\mu\nu} = \partial_{\mu}w^{ab}_{\nu} - \partial_{\nu}w^{ab}_{\mu} + w^{ac}_{\mu}w^{b}_{\nu c} - w^{ac}_{\nu}w^{b}_{\mu c}$$
(2.50)

and

$$R^{ab}_{\mu\nu}(w)e_{\rho a}e_{\sigma b} = R_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma}(g) \tag{2.51}$$

which is identical to the Riemann tensor as a function of the metric g.

The field e^a_{μ} and $\omega^b_{\nu a}$ introduced are the vierbein and the spin-connection field usually used in describing general relativity. The vierbein defines a local set of tangent frames of the spacetime manifold, while the spin-connection field is associated with (local) Lorentz transformations of these frames. a, b, ... are tangent space indices, lowered and raised by the Minkowski metric, while the world indices are $\mu, \nu, ...$ The inverse of the vierbein is denoted by e^{μ}_{a} ,

$$e_a^{\mu} = g^{\mu\nu} e_{\nu a} = g^{\mu\nu} \eta_{ab} e_{\nu}^b, \qquad (2.52)$$

and it is related to the spin connection by

$$\partial_{\nu}e^{\mu}_{a} = -\omega^{\ b}_{\nu a}e^{\mu}_{b} - \Gamma^{\mu}_{\gamma\nu}e^{\gamma}_{a} \tag{2.53}$$

2.6 Supergravity Lagrangian

In a similar way, global supersymmetry can be turned into a local one. In the supersymmetric case, the transformation parameter is itself a spinor, hence a spin-3/2 field ψ^{α}_{μ} is expected since it carries both a spinor and a vector index. This field is the supersymmetric partner of the graviton identified with the gravitino's Rarita-Schwinger field. It naturally arises in the supergravity multiplets [1]. The supermultiplet of the spin-2 graviton contains the spin-3/2 gravitino. Therefore, there are two bosonic degrees of freedom (graviton) and two fermionic degrees of freedom (massless Weyl vector spinor).

There are mainly two techniques for constructing supergravity models. The first one, which was used in constructing the original supergravity lagrangians ([27], [34]), starts from a globally invariant theory and then changes the action and transformation laws by an iterative procedure so as to obtain an invariant action successively at each order of the gravitational constant. The second one ([23], [57]) is simpler where it is to construct gauge theories of the supersymmetric groups. The gauge theory of local supersymmetry introduces spin-3/2 fields identified with the gravitino's Rarita-Schwinger field. Therefore, supergravity is obtained by gauging locally supersymmetric transformation where the gauge group is the Poincare supergroup and the gauge field associated with the local supersymmetry transformation is the gravitino. Shortly after, supergravity was reformulated in superspace [78], [56] (see also [55]).

Here we will sketch how the Supergravity Lagrangian can be obtained by gauging the supersymmetry algebra. Let [23]

$$D_{\mu} = \partial_{\mu} + \omega_{\mu}{}^{ab}J_{ab} + e^{a}_{\mu}P_{a} + \psi^{\alpha}_{\mu}Q_{\alpha}$$

$$(2.54)$$

be the connection associated with the supersymmetry algebra. The curvature tensor is computed to be

$$[D_{\mu}, D_{\nu}] = R^{ab}_{\mu\nu} J_{ab} + T^{a}_{\mu\nu} P_{a} + \psi^{\alpha}_{\mu\nu} Q_{\alpha}, \qquad (2.55)$$

where

$$R^{ab}_{\mu\nu} = \partial_{\mu}\omega^{ab}_{\nu} - \partial_{\nu}\omega^{ab}_{\mu} + \omega^{ac}_{\mu}\omega^{b}_{\nu c} - \omega^{ac}_{\nu}\omega^{b}_{\mu c},$$

$$T^{a}_{\mu\nu} = \partial_{\mu}e^{a}_{\nu} - \partial_{\nu}\omega^{a}_{\mu} + \omega^{ab}_{\mu}e_{\nu b} - \omega^{ab}_{\nu}e_{\mu b} + \bar{\psi}_{\mu}\gamma^{a}\psi_{\nu},$$

$$\psi_{\mu\nu} = \left(\partial_{\mu} + \frac{1}{4}\omega^{ab}_{\mu}\gamma_{ab}\right)\psi_{\nu} - \left(\partial_{\nu} + \frac{1}{4}\omega^{ab}_{\nu}\gamma_{ab}\right)\psi_{\mu}.$$
(2.56)

By imposing the torsion free constraint

$$T_{\mu\nu} = 0, \qquad (2.57)$$

 $\omega_{\mu}^{\ ab}$ are expressed in terms of e^a_{μ} and ψ_{μ} by

$$\omega_{\mu}^{\ ab} = \omega_{\mu}^{\ ab}(e) + \frac{1}{4} \left(\bar{\psi}_{\mu} \gamma^a \psi^b - \bar{\psi}_{\mu} \gamma^b \psi^a + \bar{\psi}_a \gamma_{\mu} \psi^b \right)$$
(2.58)

where $\omega_{\mu}^{\ ab}(e)$ is the usual expression in the non-supersymmetric case.

However, this torsion constraint is not preserved under the supersymmetry transformations which are given by

$$\delta e^{a}_{\mu} = \bar{\epsilon} \gamma^{a} \psi_{\mu},$$

$$\delta \omega^{\ ab}_{\mu} = 0,$$

$$\delta \psi_{\mu} = \left(\partial_{\mu} + \frac{1}{4} \omega^{\ ab}_{\mu} \gamma_{ab}\right) \epsilon.$$
(2.59)

To preserve it, the $\delta w_{\mu}{}^{ab}$ should be modified to become

$$\delta'\omega_{\mu ab} = -\frac{1}{2} e^a_\nu e^\rho_b \left(\bar{\epsilon}\gamma_\rho \psi_{\mu\nu} - \bar{\epsilon}\gamma_\mu \psi_{\nu\rho} + \bar{\epsilon}\gamma_\nu \psi_{\rho\mu}\right).$$
(2.60)

It is found that the Lagrangian invariant under these supersymmetry transformations is the Supergravity Lagrangian given by

$$e^{-1}L_{SG} = -\frac{1}{4}R + \bar{\psi}_{\mu}\gamma^{\mu\nu\rho} \left(\partial_{\nu} + \frac{1}{4}\omega_{\nu}^{\ ab}\gamma_{ab}\right)\psi_{\rho}.$$
(2.61)

However, soon after the construction of the gauge action of supergravity, the nonclosure of the algebra on-shell was shown. For this, auxiliary fields were added to the action and the transformation laws, similar to the situation in global supersymmetry. In [45] and [5] the problem was solved and a minimal set of auxiliary fields, closing the gauge algebra and leaving the action invariant, were derived. It was found out that only a scalar, a pseudoscalar and an axial world vector field are needed.

Therefore, the Lagrangian of supergravity contains the Einstein-Hilbert Lagrangian of general relativity and the Rarita-Schwinger Lagrangian for the gravitino field and auxiliary fields. The field content of N = 1 Supergravity with the minimal set of auxiliary fields consists of the spin-2 field, $e_{a\mu}$, the spin-3/2 field, ϕ_{μ} , and the auxiliary fields S, P and A_{μ} . It is given by [45], [63]

$$L_{S.G} = -\frac{e}{2\kappa^2}R(e,\omega) - \frac{e}{3}\left|u\right|^2 + \frac{e}{3}A_{\mu}A^{\mu} - \frac{1}{2}\bar{\phi}_{\mu}R^{\mu}$$
(2.62)

where

$$u = S - iP \tag{2.63}$$

$$R_{\mu\nu}{}^{rs} = \partial_{\mu}\omega_{\nu}{}^{rs} + \omega_{\mu}{}^{rp}\omega_{\nu p}{}^{s} - \mu \leftrightarrow \nu$$
(2.64)

$$R^{\mu} = \epsilon^{\mu\nu\rho\sigma} \gamma_{\nu} \gamma_5 D_{\rho}(\omega) \phi_{\sigma} \tag{2.65}$$

$$R = e_r^{\ \mu} e_s^{\ \nu} R_{\mu\nu}^{\ rs} \tag{2.66}$$

$$D_{\mu} = \partial_{\mu} + (1/2)\omega_{\mu rs}\sigma^{rs} \tag{2.67}$$

$$\omega_{\mu rs} = \omega_{\mu rs}(e) + K_{\mu rs}(e, \phi_{\mu}) \tag{2.68}$$

$$K_{\mu rs}(e,\phi_{\mu}) = (\kappa^2/4)(\bar{\phi}_{\mu}\gamma_r\phi_s - \bar{\phi}_{\mu}\gamma_s\phi_r + \bar{\phi}_r\gamma_{\mu}\phi_s)$$
(2.69)

and e is the determinant of the vierbein. This Supergravity Lagrangian is invariant under local supersymmetry transformations up to a total divergence.

Chapter 3 Massive Gravity

General relativity (GR) [44], formulated in 1915 by Einstein, is the theory of gravity for a four dimenional spacetime. It is the theory of a massless spin-2 particle. Einstein added to his theory in 1917 a cosmological constant to make the universe static, which what was believed at that time. However, Hubble's 1929 discovery showed that the universe is expanding. Physicists then believed that the expansion would be slowed down as time goes on by the effect of gravity. However, in 1998, supernova data revealed that the universe has not been slowing down due to gravity, it is expanding in an accelerated motion. To explain this, theorists included dark energy, a form of energy density with negative pressure. It is poorly understood, but we know that it makes around 68% of the energy density. The simplest interpretation of this dark energy is represented by the cosmological constant, a constant in space and time. However, still more is unknown than what is known.

3.1 History of Massive Gravity

When we discuss massive gravity, it is normal to ask why massive gravity. One of the main motivations for considering massive theories of gravity is that they
provide a new point of view of the cosmic acceleration. A long-distance modification of general relativity can be obtained by the graviton having a small mass while keeping the physics at small scales equivalent to general relativity.

There are two main idea of how massive gravity could be useful in interpreting the cosmological constant. The first idea is that mass of the graviton weakens gravity in the infrared and this may weaken the sensitivity of the dynamics to an already existing large cosmological constant. This is what referred to as screening or degravitating solutions [47, 48]. The second is that gravitons can condense to form a condensate whose energy density sources self-acceleration which explains that acceleration of the universe without the need of a cosmological constant [32, 17]. Simple cosmological solutions with flat, open, and closed spatial geometries were found in [73]. Their solutions exhibited self-acceleration, while being free from ghost instabilities. Also, in [25], cosmological solutions were found within the tetrad formulation of massive gravity [22]. It was found that the effect of a graviton mas is equivalent a matter source introduced to the Einstein equations that can consist of several different matter types; a cosmological term, quintessence, gas of cosmic strings, and non-relativistic cold matter.

Massive gravity is an interesting topic for many authors. It dates back for more than 70 years. It is a theory which propagates a massive spin-2 particle. To construct such a theory, the graviton should be given mass. This can be done by adding to the Einstein-Hilbert action a mass term such that as the mass goes to zero, general relativity should be restored. The first action written for a free massive gravity was in 1939 by Fierz and Pauli [46] in the perturbative limit. This is given by

$$S = \int d^4x \left(-\frac{1}{2} \partial_\lambda h_{\mu\nu} \partial^\lambda h^{\mu\nu} + \partial_\mu h_{\nu\lambda} \partial^\nu h^{\mu\lambda} - \partial_\mu h^{\mu\nu} \partial_\nu h + \frac{1}{2} \partial_\lambda h \partial^\lambda h - \frac{1}{2} m^2 \left(h_{\mu\nu} h^{\mu\nu} - h^2 \right) \right).$$
(3.1)

where $g_{\mu\nu} = h_{\mu\nu} + \eta_{\mu\nu}$. For m = 0, the action is the linearized Einstein-Hilbert action having the gauge symmetry

$$\delta h_{\mu\nu} = \partial_{\mu}\zeta_{\nu} + \partial_{\nu}\zeta_{\mu}. \tag{3.2}$$

However, the mass term breaks this general coordinate invariance. The Fierz-Pauli tuning (the -1 coefficient between $h_{\mu\nu}h^{\mu\nu}$ and h^2) is crucial where any deviation will not be description of a single massive spin-2 particle. This action propagates 5 degrees of freedom, the right number for a massive spin-2 particle.

In 1970, van Dam, Veltman and, independently, Zakharov [76], [80] coupled the linear theory to a source and discovered that the limit as the graviton's mass goes to zero is not continuous. There is a difference between what the theory predicts for a small non-zero value and general relativity (m = 0). For example, it gives a 25 percent off for the bending of light by the sun. It was then concluded that the mass of the graviton is exactly zero and not some extremely small value. This discontinuity of the physics in the parameters is known as the van Dam-Veltman-Zakharov discontinuity (vDVZ) [80]. Due to this discontinuity, massive gravity was considered not physically possible since it was experimentally ruled out. However, Vainshtein then argued that the discontinuity is due to the fact that not all degrees of freedom decouple as the graviton's mass goes to zero. As the mass goes to zero, a massive graviton becomes a massless graviton plus a scalar coupled to the trace of the stress tensor. He studied the non-linear theory presuming that the linear theory does not give the whole picture [75]. He showed that as the mass approaches zero, the perturbation theory fails because higher order contributions becomes much stronger due to singularities in the graviton mass. Then he resolved this problem by considering a distance scale known as Vainshtein radius around any mass. He found that below this radius, massive graviton acts like a massless particle. The linear approximation is not suitable in the massless limit since Vainshtein radius goes to infinity as the mass goes to zero. This saved massive gravity by having no contradiction with experiments even if the graviton has a small mass. In [18] (see also [42]), further developments of this scale were considered.

Unfortunately, in the same year, Deser and Boulware [13] showed that the theory of massive gravity is ill-behaved at the non-linear level because it has a ghost scalar that remains coupled. In the non-linear theory, there is an extra degree of freedom that appears as a scalar field with a negative kinetic energy. This scalar is known as the Boulware-Deser ghost. This led them to conclude that Einstein's gravity is an isolated theory since massive gravity is theoretically sick.

A Lagrangian theory mixing a graviton with a massive 2^+f meson was formulated by Isham, Salam and Strathdee [19]. This was generalized by Chamseddine, Salam and Strathdee [2]. They introduced the mixing terms through a spontaneous symmetry breaking mechanism. Extra dimensions theories were considered by Dvali, Gabadadze, and Porrati [49]. They built a five dimensional model which seems, in the decoupling limit, to be ghost-free when considered around a true background.

Since there was no Higgs mechanism that is ghost-free and returns a massive graviton, it was believed that we cannot obtain a ghost-free massive Einstein's gravity in four dimensions. Siegel [71] restored diffeomorphism invariance by using four scalars in open-string field theories. However, his theory is not free of ghosts when studied around a trivial background. Then, in 2003, Arkani-Hamed, Georgi and Schwartz [62] by applying this method to massive gravity restored general coordinate invariance, but their model is not ghost free. They also studied massive gravity as an effective field theory where they found a maximum UV cutoff.

't Hooft [72] (see also [52]) broke diffeomorphism invariance by using four scalar fields having vacuum expectation values. These scalars make the graviton massive where we end up with a massive spin-2 boson and a massive scalar. However, in the unbroken phase, his theory includes a ghost (negative kinetic energy of the scalar field). In the broken symmetry phase, there is no Fierz-Pauli term for the massive graviton, and the ghost state does not decouple.

Not long ago, Chamseddine and Mukhanov [21], using Higgs mechanism, were able to form massive gravity. They considered four scalars with global Lorentz symmetry. The action considered is made up of two parts, the action of the four scalar particles added to the Einstein action. As a consequence of spontaneous symmetry breaking, the four scalar fields will have non-zero expectation values, that breaks diffeomorphism invariance. The graviton absorbs three of the scalar degrees of freedom, while the fourth degree will remain coupled. Then the graviton will have a Fierz-Pauli mass term making it massive and having five degrees of freedom. It was found that their theory is free of ghosts below scales related to Vainshtein scales. In [54], the massless limit of Higgs gravity was considered and the Vainshtein scale was determined. It was found that this scale depends on the interactions of scalar fields. It was also proved that below this scale, massive gravity goes smoothly to Einstein's gravity. A simplified reformulation of massive gravity was given in [22]. In this new formulation, the action depends quadratically on the scalar fields.

3.2 Higgs Massive Gravity

To make the graviton massive via Higgs mechanism, four scalar fields ϕ^A are considered with A = 0, 1, 2, 3. The index A is a global Lorentz index; it mixes the scalar fields and preserves the metric $\eta_{AB} = (1, -1, -1, -1)$. From these scalar fields, a field space tensor is constructed

$$H^{AB} = g^{\mu\nu} \partial_{\mu} \varphi^A \partial_{\nu} \varphi^B, \qquad (3.3)$$

An action providing the graviton mass is then constructed using the space tensor.

This action is diffeomorphism and Lorentz invariant and is given by

$$S = -\frac{1}{2\kappa^2} \int d^4x \sqrt{-g}R + \frac{m^2}{8} \int d^4x \sqrt{-g} \left(H^2 - H^A_B H^B_A\right) + 3\left(\frac{1}{16}H^2 - 1\right)^2.$$

where $\kappa^2 = 8\pi G$. This is not a unique action. There exist many other actions agreeing at the second level but differing at higher orders.

Expanding around the vacuum solution, which breaks diffeomorphism invariance [21]

$$\varphi^{A} = (x^{A} + \chi^{A}) , \quad g^{\mu\nu} = \eta^{\mu\nu} + h^{\mu\nu} .$$
 (3.4)

and introducing

$$\bar{h}^{AB} = H^{AB} - \eta^{AB}, \qquad (3.5)$$

this gives

$$\bar{h}^{AB} = h^{AB} + \left(\partial^A \chi^B + \partial^B \chi^A\right) + \cdots .$$
(3.6)

Then the action is rewritten as

$$S = -\frac{1}{2} \int d^4x \sqrt{-g} R + \frac{m^2}{8} \int d^4x \sqrt{-g} \left[\left(\bar{h}^2 - \bar{h}_B^A \bar{h}_A^B \right) + \cdots \right].$$
(3.7)

We can write the Einstein action also in terms of \bar{h}^A_B since it is invariant under infinitesimal transformations $\tilde{x}^A = x^A + \xi^A$ and the metric perturbations around Minkowski space-time transform similarly, with χ^A instead of ξ^A . Therefore, the full action up to second order terms in \bar{h}^A_B is given by

$$S = \frac{1}{2} \int d^4x \left[\bar{h}_B^{A,C} \bar{h}_{A,C}^B - 2\bar{h}_C^{A,C} \bar{h}_{A,D}^D + 2\bar{h}_C^{A,C} \bar{h}_{A,A} - \bar{h}_{A,A} \bar{h}^{A,A} - m^2 \left(\bar{h}_B^A \bar{h}_A^B - \bar{h}^2 \right) \right].$$

This theory is free of ghosts since no linear term in H was included in the action. The constructed action is at least quadratic in the fields φ^A since the field H^{AB} is quadratic in φ^A .

3.3 vDVZ Discontinuity

The vDVZ discontinuity is easily seen by comparing the propagators of the massless and massive graviton. The graviton propagator in flat spacetime in the momentum space is given by [80]

$$D_{\mu\nu,\lambda\sigma}(k) = \frac{1}{2} \frac{\eta_{\mu\lambda}\eta_{\nu\sigma} + \eta_{\mu\sigma}\eta_{\nu\lambda} - \eta_{\mu\nu}\eta_{\lambda\sigma}}{k^2 + i\epsilon}.$$
(3.8)

While if we propose gravity to be due to the exchange of a massive spin-2 particle with mass m_g , then the propagator takes the form

$$D^{(m)}_{\mu\nu,\lambda\sigma}(k) = \frac{1}{2} \frac{G_{\mu\lambda}G_{\nu\sigma} + G_{\mu\sigma}G_{\nu\lambda} - \frac{2}{3}G_{\mu\nu}G_{\lambda\sigma}}{k^2 - m_g^2 + i\epsilon}$$
(3.9)

with $G_{\mu\nu} = \eta_{\mu\nu} - k_{\mu}k_{\nu}/m_g^2$. We can replace $G_{\mu\nu}$ by $\eta_{\mu\nu}$ since the spin-2 particle is coupled to a conserved source with $k_{\mu}T^{\mu\nu} = 0$. This propagator becomes in the limit $m_g \to 0$

$$D^{(m)}_{\mu\nu,\lambda\sigma}(k) = \frac{1}{2} \frac{\eta_{mu\lambda}\eta_{\nu\sigma} + \eta_{\mu\sigma}\eta_{\nu\lambda} - \frac{2}{3}\eta_{\mu\nu}\eta_{\lambda\sigma}}{k^2 + i\epsilon}.$$
(3.10)

This differs from the propagator of the massless graviton by a factor of 2/3 instead of 1 appearing in front of the last term. This discontinuity is traced back to the fact that the scalar mode of the massive graviton does not decouple. A massless graviton has only two degrees of freedom, while a massive one has five degrees of freedom. These five degrees can be thought of as coming from a massless spin-2, spin-1 and spin-0 fields. The coupling of the helicity ± 1 vanishes because of the condition $k_{\mu}T^{\mu\nu} = 0$. However, the extra coupling of the helicity zero to the trace of the energy-momentum tensor survives in addition to the two tensor degrees of freedom.

This discontinuity was shown at the classical level without going to quantum theory in [54]. The method usually applied in cosmological perturbation theory was used. They first start by classifying the metric perturbations according to the irreducible representations of the spatial rotation group [61]. In the Newtonian gauge, the metric then takes the form

$$ds^{2} = (1+2\phi)dt^{2} - (1-2\psi)\delta_{ik}dx^{i}dx^{k}.$$
(3.11)

The static interaction between two massive bodies is entirely due to the two potentials ϕ and ψ . Solving the equations of motion, it follows immediately that $\psi = \phi/2$ and the gravitational potential ϕ for a central source of mass M_0 is given by

$$\phi = -\frac{4}{3} \frac{M_0}{r} e^{-m_g r} = \frac{4}{3} \phi_N e^{-m_g r}$$
(3.12)

where ϕ_N is the Newtonian gravitational potential. m_g is the graviton's mass which is of the order of the present Hubble constant, about $10^{-33} eV$.

For distance scales much smaller than $1/m_g$, the static potentials will be related to the Newtonian potential by $\phi = \frac{4}{3}\phi_N$ and $\psi = \frac{4}{3}(2)\phi_N$. This however won't affect the bending of light which is determined by the sum $\phi + \psi$. In massive gravity, this combination is equal to

$$\phi + \psi = \frac{4}{3}\phi_N + \frac{2}{3}\phi_N = 2\phi_N \tag{3.13}$$

which is what we have in General Relativity with $\psi = \phi_N$. Therefore, we obtain the same prediction for the bending of light. However, the gravitational potential is modified by a 4/3 factor even in the limit of a zero mass. This will modify the motion of planets as predicted from general relativity. Fixing the gravitational potential by redefining the gravitational constant will give a wrong bending of light. This is the classical version of the van Dam, Veltman and Zakharov discontinuity.

3.4 Boulware-Deser Ghost

In this section we show that the nonlinear ghost propagates around broken symmetry background following what was done in [4]. To trace the appearance of the nonlinear ghost it is convenient to work in the Newtonian gauge where the scalar field perturbations are not equal to zero. In this case, the metric takes the form

$$ds^{2} = (1+2\phi) dt^{2} + 2S_{i}dtdx^{i} - \left[(1-2\psi) \delta_{ik} + \tilde{h}_{ik} \right] dx^{i}dx^{k}$$
(3.14)

where $S_{i,i} = 0$ and $\tilde{h}_{ij,i} = \tilde{h}_{ii} = 0$. \tilde{h}_{ij} are irreducible tensor perturbations having two independent components and describing the graviton with two degrees of freedom in a diffeomorphism invariant way. Also, the scalar fields perturbations transforming as scalars under the three-dimensional rotation group, χ^0 and $\chi^i = \pi_{,i}$, are only considered. In this choice, the ghost is traced as a dynamical degree of freedom of the scalar field χ^0 . It was shown in [54] that the linear perturbations of the scalar fields can be expressed in terms of the metric potential ψ as

$$\pi = \frac{2\Delta - 3m_g^2}{m_g^2 \Delta} \psi$$
$$\chi^0 = -\frac{2\Delta + 3m_g^2}{m_g^2 \Delta} \dot{\psi}$$
(3.15)

and then the action up to second order in perturbations simplifies to

$$^{(S)}\delta_2 S = -3\int d^4x \left[\psi \left(\partial_t^2 - \Delta + m_g^2\right)\psi\right].$$
(3.16)

Due to the accidental U(1) symmetry of the scalar fields χ_A , the field χ^0 enters as a Lagrange multiplier around Minkowski background [21]. However, this symmetry is not preserved on a background deviating from Minkowski space. Therefore, the nonlinear ghost will reappear in the cubic order in the metric and scalar field perturbations since the χ^0 starts to propagate. To see the ghost, third order terms involving the powers of $\dot{\chi}^0$ are considered

$$\delta_{3}S = \frac{m_{g}^{2}}{2} \int d^{4}x \left\{ \left[\left(g^{00} - 1 + \sqrt{-g} \right) \bar{h}_{i}^{i} + \left(g^{0i} + \dot{\chi}^{i} - \chi_{,i}^{0} \right) \left(g^{0i} + \dot{\chi}^{i} \right) \right] \dot{\chi}^{0} + \frac{1}{2} \bar{h}_{i}^{i} \left(\dot{\chi}^{0} \right)^{2} + \cdots \right\}.$$

$$(3.17)$$

The term linear in the time derivative of χ^0 does not induce dynamics for the mode χ^0 , while the term proportional to $(\dot{\chi}^0)^2$ induces the propagation of χ^0 on the background deviating from Minkowski space for which $\bar{h}_i^i \neq 0$.

This action can be expressed entirely in terms of ψ . Considering small perturbations around a background field ψ_b , $\psi = \psi_b + \delta \psi$, the action up to second order in $\delta \psi$ is given by

$$\delta S = -3 \int d^4x \left\{ \delta \psi \left(\partial_t^2 - \Delta + m_g^2 \right) \delta \psi + \frac{1}{m_{GH}^2} \left[\left(\partial_t^2 \delta \psi \right)^2 + 2 \frac{\ddot{\psi}_b}{\Delta \psi_b} \left(\Delta \delta \psi \right) \left(\partial_t^2 \delta \psi \right) \right] + \cdots \right\},$$
(3.18)

where

$$m_{GH}^2 = -\frac{3m_g^4}{4\Delta\psi_b},$$
 (3.19)

Taking for the background field the scalar mode of gravitational wave with the wavenumber $k \sim m_g$, for which $\ddot{\psi}_b \sim \Delta \psi_b \sim m_g^2 \psi_b$ and $m_{GH}^2 \sim m_g^2 / \psi_b$. By considering perturbations $\delta \psi$ with wave-numbers $m_{GH}^2 \gg k^2 \gg m_g^2$ and skipping subdomi-

nant terms we can rewrite the action above as

$$\delta S \approx -\frac{3}{m_{GH}^2} \int d^4x \delta \psi \left(\partial_t^2 + \cdots\right) \left(\partial_t^2 + m_{GH}^2 \cdots\right) \delta \psi.$$
(3.20)

The perturbation propagator is then given by

$$\frac{1}{\partial^2 \left(\partial^2 + m_{GH}^2\right)} \simeq \frac{1}{m_{GH}^2} \left(\frac{1}{\partial^2} - \frac{1}{\partial^2 + m_{GH}^2}\right). \tag{3.21}$$

This obviously describes the scalar mode of the graviton together with non perturbative Boulware-Deser ghost of mass $m_{GH} \sim m_g/\sqrt{\psi_b}$. As ψ_b vanishes, m_{GH} becomes infinite and the ghost disappears. This ghost would not be essential if m_{GH} would be larger than the Vainstein scale $\Lambda_5 = m_g^{4/5}$ since the linearized consideration above breaks down at energies above Λ_5 and the scalar fields enter the strong coupling regime. However, in strong enough background we have $m_g < m_{GH} < \Lambda_5$ and then the nonlinear ghost appears below the Vainshtein scale, where the perturbative expansion is trustable.

In [31] and [30] it was claimed that there is a unique ghost free nonlinear extension of massive gravity related with $\Lambda = m_g^{2/3}$ Vainshtein scale. Their claim was proved in the decoupling limit neglecting the vector modes of the graviton. However, it was shown in [4] that away from the decoupling limit the nonlinear ghost reappears in the fourth order of perturbation theory which cannot be removed by adding fifth and higher order terms. To summarize, Higgs gravity uses four scalar fields and the Higgs mechanism to resolve the problems that faced finding a consistent theory for massive gravitons. This model reproduces at the leading order the Fierz-Pauli mass term, but the Boulware-Deser ghost arises at higher non-linear order of perturbation theory. However, it was shown in [4] that this nonlinear ghost exists only at the scales below the Vainshtein energy scale which is extremely low, about $10^{-20}eV$, considering the mass of the graviton to be of the order of the present Hubble scale. Therefore, the ghost is in the strong coupling regime where it is completely harmless and thus irrelevant.

Chapter 4

Supersymmetrizing Massive Gravity

In this chapter, we are going to construct a theory of massive supergravity by generalizing the Higgs Gravity formulation [58], [59]. It is interesting to explore what are we going to get upon taking massive gravity into supersymmetry.

4.1 Going into Supersymmetry

To supersymmetrize Higgs Gravity, we start by using four chiral superfields, $\Phi^A(x, \theta, \overline{\theta})$, instead of the four scalars used in the bosonic case (section 3.2). These superfields are subject to the condition

$$\overline{D}_{\dot{\alpha}}\Phi^A\left(x,\theta,\overline{\theta}\right) = 0, \tag{4.1}$$

where A = 0, 1, 2, 3 is a global Lorentz index and $\bar{D}_{\dot{\alpha}}$ is defined in equation (2.9). From section 2.2, we have

$$\Phi_A = \varphi_A + i(\theta\sigma^\mu\bar{\theta})\partial_\mu\varphi_A - \frac{1}{4}\,\theta\theta\bar{\theta}\bar{\theta}\partial_\mu\partial^\mu\varphi_A + \sqrt{2}\,\theta\psi_A - \frac{i}{\sqrt{2}}\,\theta\theta\left(\partial_\mu\psi_A\sigma^\mu\bar{\theta}\right) + \theta\theta F_A. \tag{4.2}$$

To form our generalized induced metric, we start by writing a quartic interaction. The most general term is given by

$$D_{\alpha}\Phi_{A}D_{\beta}\Phi_{B}\overline{D}^{\dot{\alpha}}\Phi^{*C}\overline{D}^{\dot{\beta}}\Phi^{*D}M^{\alpha\beta AB}_{\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}CD}$$

$$\tag{4.3}$$

where $M^{\alpha\beta AB}_{\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}CD}$ is a multispinor constructed in such a way as to make the action invariant under Lorentz transformations. There are two possible strategies to adopt: to symmetrize and antisymmetrize with respect to the fermionic indices $\alpha\beta$ and $\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}$, or to use the equivalence of $\alpha\dot{\alpha}$ to a vector index

$$V_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}} = \sigma^{\mu}_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}} V_{\mu}. \tag{4.4}$$

We thus define H_{ABC} as the basic field

$$H_{ABC} = D^{\alpha} \Phi_A(\sigma_B)_{\alpha \dot{\alpha}} \bar{D}^{\dot{\alpha}} \Phi_C^* = D \Phi_A \sigma_B \bar{D} \Phi_C^*$$
(4.5)

Its Hermitian conjugate is

$$H_{ABC}^* = D\Phi_C \sigma_B \overline{D} \Phi_A^* = H_{CBA} \tag{4.6}$$

We also denote $H_{ABC}\eta^{AB}$ by H_{AAC} and we define the contracted field

$$H_C = H_{AAC}, \qquad H_A^* = H_{ACC} \tag{4.7}$$

to simplify our expressions. The products that could be formed from this H field are given in appendix B. These represent all the possible D-type terms that can be included in our action. Therefore, the action to start with is the linear combination of all these D-type terms constructed. This is given by

$$c_{1}H_{ABC}H_{ABC} + c_{2}H_{ABC}H_{ACB} + c_{2}^{*}H_{ABC}H_{BAC} + c_{3}H_{ABC}H_{BCA}$$

$$+ c_{4}H_{ABC}H_{CAB} + c_{5}H_{ABC}H_{CBA} + c_{6}H_{A}H_{A}^{*} + c_{7}H_{A}H_{A} + c_{7}^{*}H_{A}^{*}H_{A}^{*}$$

$$+ \epsilon^{ABCD}H_{ABC}(c_{8}H_{D} - c_{8}^{*}H_{D}^{*}) + \epsilon^{ABCD}(c_{9}H_{ABE}H_{CDE} + c_{9}^{*}H_{EAB}H_{ECD})$$

$$+ \epsilon^{ABCD}(c_{10}H_{AEB}H_{CED} + c_{11}H_{AEB}H_{ECD} + c_{11}^{*}H_{AEB}H_{CDE} + c_{12}H_{EAB}H_{CDE}).$$
(4.8)

where all the constants c_i are real except for those whose conjugate appear (i.e. c_2 , c_7 , c_8 , c_9 , c_{11} , are complex). All these terms are computed term by term up to all orders in θ .

4.2 Coupling to Supergravity

To couple our supersymmetric action to supergravity, we use the rules of tensor calculus. These rules provide us the method of coupling Supergravity to the components of vector and chiral multiplets [63] (see also [43]). This will promote the global supersymmetry to a local one. Let us first present a review of these rules.

4.2.1 Rules of Tensor Calculus

The vector multiplet discussed in section (2.2) has as component fields two scalars (C and a complex M), two Majorana spinors (ξ and λ), a vector (V_{μ}), and one auxiliary scalar field (D). It is represented by

$$V = (C, \xi, M, V_{\mu}, \lambda, D).$$
(4.9)

While the component fields of a left-handed chiral multiplet (F-type) are a complex scalar field z, left-handed Weyl spinors χ_L , and a complex auxiliary field h. It is given by

$$F = (z, \chi_L, h). \tag{4.10}$$

To couple the F-type multiplet to supergravity, we use the action formula given by

$$e^{-1}L_F = h + \kappa uz + \kappa \bar{\phi}_{\mu} \gamma^{\mu} \chi + i\kappa^2 \bar{\phi}_{\mu} \gamma^{\mu\nu} \phi_{vR} z + h.c.$$
(4.11)

That of the D-type multiplet is given by

$$e^{-1}L_D = D + \frac{i\kappa}{2}\bar{\phi}_{\mu}\gamma^5\gamma^{\mu}\lambda - \frac{\kappa}{3}\left(uM^* + u^*M\right) + \frac{i\kappa^2}{8}\epsilon^{\mu\nu\rho\sigma}\bar{\phi}_{\mu}\gamma_{\nu}\phi_{\rho}\bar{\xi}\phi_{\sigma}$$
$$+ \frac{2}{3}\kappa V_{\mu}\left(A^{\mu} + \frac{3}{8}ie^{-1}\epsilon^{\mu\rho\sigma\tau}\bar{\phi}_{\rho}\gamma_{\tau}\phi_{\sigma}\right) - i\frac{\kappa}{3}e^{-1}\bar{\xi}\gamma_5\gamma_{\mu}R^{\mu}$$
$$- \frac{2}{3}\kappa^2Ce^{-1}L_{S.G.} + e^{-1}L_{S.G.}$$
(4.12)

where $L_{S.G.}$ is the supergravity Lagrangian given in section (2.5). These two equations contain the auxiliary fields u and A^{μ} . To eliminate them, we use their equations of motion which are given by respectively

$$\kappa z - \frac{\kappa}{3}M^* - \frac{1}{3}u^* = 0$$

$$\frac{2}{3}\kappa V_{\mu} + \frac{1}{3}A_{\mu} = 0 \tag{4.13}$$

Plugging back for A_{μ} , u and u^* in $e^{-1}L_F + e^{-1}L_D$, we get

$$e^{-1}L_{F} + e^{-1}L_{D} = D - \frac{1}{2\kappa^{2}}R(e,w) - \frac{1}{2}e^{-1}\bar{\phi}_{\mu}R^{\mu} + (h+h^{*}) - \kappa^{2}\left(Mz + M^{*}z^{*}\right) + 3\kappa^{2}zz^{*} + \left(\left(\kappa\bar{\phi}_{\mu}\gamma^{\mu}\chi + i\kappa^{2}\bar{\phi}_{\mu}\gamma^{\mu\nu}\phi_{vR}z\right) + h.c.\right) - \frac{2}{3}\kappa^{2}Ce^{-1}L_{S.G.} + \frac{i\kappa}{2}\bar{\phi}_{\mu}\gamma^{5}\gamma^{\mu}\lambda - i\frac{\kappa}{3}e^{-1}\bar{\xi}\gamma_{5}\gamma_{\mu}R^{\mu} + \frac{k^{2}}{3}MM^{*} + \frac{i\kappa^{2}}{8}\epsilon^{\mu\nu\rho\sigma}\bar{\phi}_{\mu}\gamma_{\nu}\phi_{\rho}\bar{\xi}\phi_{\sigma} + \frac{i}{4}e^{-1}\kappa\epsilon^{\mu\rho\sigma\tau}V_{\mu}\bar{\phi}_{\rho}\sigma_{\tau}\phi_{\sigma}.$$
(4.14)

4.2.2 Constructing the Full Action

Using the above equations we can construct our full action. We require an action with the following conditions

- It has a Fierz-Pauli term for the vierbeins $(\bar{e}^{\mu}_{A}\bar{e}^{A}_{\mu}-\bar{e}^{2})$. This choice decouples the sixth degree of freedom of the massive graviton.
- It has no constant.
- It contains no linear vierbein term
- It gives Maxwell form for the χ_A fields

$$l\left(\partial_{\mu}\chi_{A}\partial^{\mu}\chi^{A*} - \partial_{A}\chi^{A}\partial_{B}\chi^{B*}\right)$$

$$(4.15)$$

where l is a constant

• It is ghost free where there should be no terms like

$$\partial_{\mu}\chi_{A}\partial^{\mu}\chi^{A}, \quad \text{or} \quad \partial_{A}\chi^{A}\partial_{B}\chi^{B}$$

$$(4.16)$$

• The gravitino should be massive.

Calculations show that working instead with

$$\overline{H}_{ABC} = H_{ABC} - Dx_A \sigma_B \overline{D} x_C^*, \qquad (4.17)$$

where x_A are the coordinates, will cancel the linear vierbein term without including higher order terms in H_{ABC} . This is similar to what was done in the bosonic case to give an action with the correct behaviour (as discussed in section 3.2). In that case \overline{h}_{AB} was defined by

$$\overline{h}_{AB} = H_{AB} - \eta_{AB} \equiv H_{AB} - \partial_{\mu} x_A \partial^{\mu} x_B \tag{4.18}$$

so that there is no need to include higher order terms in H_{AB} and only

$$\left(\bar{h}_B^A \bar{h}_A^B - \bar{h}^2\right) \tag{4.19}$$

were considered.

It was also found that if we consider only D-type terms, all of the above required conditions are well satisfied except making the gravitino massive. To solve this issue, F-type terms are included because only such terms will return a mass term for the gravitino.

Several F-type terms can be written. Two such terms are given below. These will be added to the action formed of D-type terms composed above (equation 4.8)

$$c_{13}\overline{D}^{2}\left(D\Phi_{A}\sigma^{AB}D\Phi_{B}\right) + c_{13}^{*}D^{2}\left(\overline{D}\Phi_{A}^{*}\overline{\sigma}^{AB}\overline{D}\Phi_{B}^{*}\right) + c_{14}\overline{D}^{2}\left(D\Phi_{A}D\Phi^{A}\overline{D}\Phi_{B}^{*}\overline{D}\Phi^{B*}\right) + c_{14}^{*}D^{2}\left(\overline{D}\Phi_{A}^{*}\overline{D}\Phi^{A*}D\Phi_{B}D\Phi^{B}\right)$$
(4.20)

To find the full Lagrangian that satisfies the required conditions, we have first to express the supermultiplets in terms of their component fields. Expressing the metric in terms of vierbeins, $g^{\mu\nu} = e^{\mu}_{a}e^{\nu a}$, and expanding the fields around the vacuum solution

$$\varphi^A = x^A + \chi^A, \qquad e^\mu_a = \delta^\mu_a + \bar{e}^\mu_a, \tag{4.21}$$

then up to quadratic orders, the components of our superfields are found. Coupling the components of the vector and chiral multiplets to supergravity, it is found that the required matter action is formed of three D-type terms and two F-type terms. It is given by

$$m^{4} \int \left(c_{1}\bar{H}_{ABC}\bar{H}_{BCA} + c_{2}\bar{H}_{ABB}\bar{H}_{CCA} + c_{3}\bar{H}_{AB}\bar{H}_{AB}^{*}\right) d\theta^{2}d\bar{\theta}^{2}d^{4}x$$

$$+ \frac{m^{2}}{\kappa} \int \left(c_{4}\bar{D}^{2} \left(D\Phi_{A}\sigma^{AB}D\Phi_{B}\right) + c_{4}^{*}D^{2} \left(\bar{D}\Phi_{A}^{*}\bar{\sigma}^{AB}\bar{D}\Phi_{B}^{*}\right)\right) d\theta^{2}d^{4}x$$

$$+ m^{4} \int c_{5}\bar{D}^{2} \left(D\Phi_{A}D\Phi^{A}\bar{D}\Phi_{B}^{*}\bar{D}\Phi^{B*}\right) d\theta^{2}d^{4}x$$

$$+ m^{4} \int c_{5}^{*}D^{2} \left(\bar{D}\Phi_{A}^{*}\bar{D}\Phi^{A*}D\Phi_{B}D\Phi^{B}\right) d\theta^{2}d^{4}x \qquad (4.22)$$

where $H_{AB} = D\Phi_A D\Phi_B$ and m and κ are used to fix the dimensions where $[\Phi_A] = -1$, $[D^{\alpha}] = 1/2$, $[d\theta] = 1/2$ and $[d^4x] = -4$.

The components of the basic field, H_{ABC} , and of the superfields forming the action are given in appendix C. This action is not unique. Many other actions exist serving the same purpose. For example, the three D-type terms can be substituted by three other terms

$$\epsilon^{ABCD} D^{\alpha} \Phi_{A} (\sigma_{B})_{\alpha \dot{\alpha}} \bar{D}^{\dot{\alpha}} \Phi^{\dagger}_{C} D^{\beta} \Phi_{D} (\sigma^{E})_{\beta \dot{\beta}} \bar{D}^{\dot{\beta}} \Phi^{\dagger}_{E}$$

$$\epsilon^{ABCD} D^{\alpha} \Phi_{A} (\sigma_{B})_{\alpha \dot{\alpha}} \bar{D}^{\dot{\alpha}} \Phi^{\dagger}_{E} D^{\beta} \Phi_{D} (\sigma_{C})_{\beta \dot{\beta}} \bar{D}^{\dot{\beta}} \Phi^{E\dagger}$$

$$\epsilon^{ABCD} D^{\alpha} \Phi_{A} (\sigma^{E})_{\alpha \dot{\alpha}} \bar{D}^{\dot{\alpha}} \Phi^{\dagger}_{C} D^{\beta} \Phi_{D} (\sigma_{B})_{\beta \dot{\beta}} \bar{D}^{\dot{\beta}} \Phi^{\dagger}_{E}.$$

$$(4.23)$$

The constants, c_1, c_2, c_3, c_4 and c_5 , are found by forcing the constraints on the action. This will return a system of equations for the constants given by

- No ghost $\rightarrow -16c_1 + 32c_2 256(c_5 + c_5^*) = 0$
- Maxwell: $l (\partial_{\mu}\chi_A \partial^{\mu}\chi^{A*} \partial_A \chi^A \partial_B \chi^{B*}) \rightarrow 32c_1 + 128c_2 + 32c_3 = l$ and $32c_1 + 32c_2 + 32c_3 + 48^2 \times 3 \ c_4c_4^* - 128 \ (c_5 + c_5^*) = -l$
- Constant $\rightarrow -64 \times 16 (c_5 + c_5^*) + 96^2 \times 3 c_4 c_4^* = 0$

Solving this system, we obtain

$$c_{1} = \frac{l}{24} - 432 c_{4}c_{4}^{*}$$
$$c_{2} = \frac{l}{48}$$
$$c_{3} = -\frac{3l}{32} + 432 c_{4}c_{4}^{*}$$

$$c_5 = \frac{27}{2} \ c_4 c_4^* \tag{4.24}$$

l is fixed to be -1/2 by normalizing the kinetic term. Moreover, c_4 is arbitrary, but we set it to be $\frac{i}{48\sqrt{6}}$ for the term $\bar{\psi}_A \gamma^A \gamma^B \psi_B$ to cancel out. The full Lagrangian $(e^{-1}L_F + e^{-1}L_D)$ is then reduced to

$$\begin{split} &-\frac{1}{2}m^4 \left(\partial_\mu \chi_A \partial^\mu \chi^{A*} - \partial^A \chi_A \partial^B \chi_B^*\right) + \frac{7}{3}m^4 \left(\bar{e}_\mu^A \bar{e}_A^\mu - \bar{e}^2\right) - m^4 F_A F^{A*} \\ &-\frac{7}{3} \left(\bar{e}\partial_A \chi^A + \bar{e}\partial_A \chi^{A*}\right) + \frac{7}{3} \left(\bar{e}_A^\mu \partial_\mu \chi^A + \bar{e}_A^\mu \partial_\mu \chi^{A*}\right) \\ &-\frac{5}{24}m^4 \epsilon^{ABCD} \bar{\psi}_A \gamma_B \gamma_5 \partial_C \psi_D + \frac{3i}{8}m^4 \bar{\psi}_A \gamma_\mu \partial^\mu \psi^A - \frac{\sqrt{6}}{8}m^6 \kappa \bar{\psi}_A \psi^A \\ &+ \frac{\sqrt{6}}{18}m^6 \kappa \bar{\psi}_A \gamma^A \gamma^B \psi_B - \frac{5\sqrt{6}}{36}m^6 \kappa \bar{\psi}_A \gamma^B \gamma^A \psi_B + \frac{1}{2}e^{-1}\epsilon^{\mu\nu\rho\sigma} \bar{\phi}_\mu \gamma_5 \gamma_\nu \partial_\rho \phi_\sigma \\ &+ \frac{\sqrt{2}i}{4}m^4 \kappa \bar{\phi}_\mu \gamma^\mu \gamma^A \psi_A - \frac{\sqrt{2}i}{4}m^4 \kappa \bar{\psi}_A \gamma^A \gamma^\mu \phi_\mu + \frac{\sqrt{3}}{6}m^2 \bar{\phi}_\mu \gamma^\mu \partial^A \psi_A \\ &+ \frac{\sqrt{3}}{6}m^2 \partial^A \bar{\psi}_A \gamma^\mu \phi_\mu + \frac{\sqrt{6i}}{3}m^2 \kappa \bar{\phi}_\mu \gamma^{\mu\nu} \phi_v + \frac{\sqrt{3}}{12}m^2 \kappa \bar{\phi}_\mu \gamma^\mu \gamma^A \gamma^B \partial_B \psi_A \\ &+ \frac{\sqrt{3}}{12}m^2 \kappa \partial_B \bar{\psi}_A \gamma^B \gamma^A \gamma^\mu \phi_\mu - \frac{1}{2\kappa^2}R(e,w). \end{split}$$

Now it is clear how the dimensions are fixed by m and κ , where $[\chi_A] = -1, [\bar{e}] = 0, [F_A] = 0, [\psi_A] = -1/2$ and the gravitino $[\phi_\mu] = 3/2$.

4.3 Equations of Motion

The equations of motion can be found from the full Lagrangian. The Euler-Lagrange equations are given by

$$\frac{\delta L}{\delta \Phi^a} = \frac{\partial L}{\partial \Phi^a} - \partial_\mu \left[\frac{\partial L}{\partial \left(\partial_\mu \Phi^a \right)} \right] = 0 \tag{4.25}$$

From this, the equations of motion for $\bar{\psi}_A$ and $\bar{\phi}_\mu$ are found to be given respectively by

$$\frac{-5}{24}m^{4}\epsilon^{ABCD}\gamma_{B}\gamma_{5}\partial_{C}\psi_{D} + \frac{3i}{8}m^{4}\gamma_{\mu}\partial^{\mu}\psi^{A} - \frac{\sqrt{6}}{8}m^{6}\kappa \ \psi^{A} - \frac{5\sqrt{6}}{36}m^{6}\kappa \ \gamma^{B}\gamma^{A}\psi_{B} + \frac{\sqrt{6}}{18}m^{6}\kappa \ \gamma^{A}\gamma^{B}\psi_{B} - \frac{\sqrt{3}}{6}m^{2} \ \gamma^{\mu}\partial^{A}\phi_{\mu} - \frac{\sqrt{2}i}{4}m^{4}\kappa \ \gamma^{A}\gamma^{\mu}\phi_{\mu} - \frac{\sqrt{3}}{12}m^{2}\kappa \ \gamma^{B}\gamma^{A}\gamma^{\mu}\partial_{B}\phi_{\mu} = 0$$

$$(4.26)$$

and

$$\frac{\sqrt{3}}{6}m^2 \gamma^{\mu}\partial_A\psi^A + \frac{\sqrt{2}i}{4}m^4\kappa \gamma^{\mu}\gamma^{\nu}\psi_{\nu} + \frac{\sqrt{3}}{12}m^2 \gamma^{\mu}\gamma^A\gamma^B\partial_B\psi_A + \frac{\sqrt{6}i}{3}m^2\kappa\gamma^{\mu\nu}\phi_{\nu} + \frac{1}{2}\epsilon^{\mu\nu\rho\sigma}\gamma_5\gamma_{\nu}\partial_\rho\phi_{\sigma} = 0.$$
(4.27)

The gravitino is a vector-spinor and hence it is reducible because it contains both spin 3/2 and spin 1/2 degrees of freedom. Therefore, to simplify the equations of motion and count the degrees of freedom, we decompose ψ_A into a spin-3/2 helicity, $\hat{\psi}_A,$ and a spin-1/2 helicity, λ

$$\psi_A = \hat{\psi}_A + \frac{1}{4} \gamma_A \gamma_5 \lambda$$

$$\Rightarrow \bar{\psi}_A = \bar{\psi}_A + \frac{1}{4} \bar{\lambda} \gamma_A \gamma_5, \qquad (4.28)$$

where $\gamma_A \hat{\psi}^A = 0$. Similarly, we decompose ϕ_μ

$$\phi_{\mu} = \hat{\phi}_{\mu} + \frac{1}{4} \gamma_{\mu} \gamma_{5} \eta$$

$$\Rightarrow \bar{\phi}_{\mu} = \bar{\phi}_{\mu} + \frac{1}{4} \bar{\eta} \gamma_{\mu} \gamma_{5}, \qquad (4.29)$$

where $\gamma_{\mu}\hat{\phi}^{\mu} = 0$. Again $\hat{\phi}_{\mu}$ is a spin-3/2 helicity, and η is spin-1/2 helicity.

The equations of motion expressed using this decomposition are then given by

$$\frac{-5}{24}m^{4}\epsilon^{ABCD}\gamma_{B}\gamma_{5}\partial_{C}\hat{\psi}_{D} + \frac{5}{96}m^{4}\epsilon^{ABCD}\gamma_{B}\gamma_{D}\partial_{C}\lambda + \frac{3i}{8}m^{4}\gamma_{\mu}\partial^{\mu}\hat{\psi}^{A} + \frac{3i}{32}m^{4}\gamma_{\mu}\gamma^{A}\gamma^{5}\partial^{\mu}\lambda + \frac{3\sqrt{6}}{32}m^{6}\kappa \ \gamma^{A}\gamma^{5}\lambda - \frac{29\sqrt{6}}{72}m^{6}\kappa \ \hat{\psi}^{A} - \frac{\sqrt{3}}{6}m^{2} \ \gamma^{5}\partial^{A}\eta - \frac{\sqrt{2}i}{4}m^{4}\kappa \ \gamma^{A}\gamma^{5}\eta - \frac{\sqrt{3}}{12}m^{2}\kappa \ \gamma^{B}\gamma^{A}\gamma^{5}\partial_{B}\eta = 0$$

$$(4.30)$$

and

$$\frac{\sqrt{3}}{3}m^2 \gamma^{\mu}\partial_A\hat{\psi}^A + \frac{\sqrt{2}i}{4}m^4\kappa \gamma^{\mu}\gamma^5\lambda + \frac{\sqrt{6}}{6}m^2\kappa \hat{\phi}^{\mu} - \frac{\sqrt{6}}{8}m^2\kappa\gamma^{\mu}\gamma^5\eta + \frac{1}{2}\epsilon^{\mu\nu\rho\sigma}\gamma_5\gamma_{\nu}\partial_\rho\hat{\phi}_{\sigma} + \frac{1}{2}\gamma^5\gamma^{\mu\rho}\partial_\rho\eta = 0.$$
(4.31)

To simplify these field equations, we multiply equations (4.30) and (4.31) by γ_A and γ_{μ} respectively. This will yield

$$\frac{i}{3}\partial_A\hat{\psi}^A - \frac{i}{8}\gamma^5\gamma^A\partial_A\lambda + \frac{3\sqrt{6}}{8}m^2\kappa\ \gamma^5\lambda - \sqrt{2}i\kappa\ \gamma^5\eta = 0 \tag{4.32}$$

$$\frac{i}{3}m^2 \,\partial_A \hat{\psi}^A - \frac{\sqrt{6}}{12}m^4 \kappa \,\gamma^5 \lambda - \frac{\sqrt{2}}{8}im^2 \kappa \,\gamma^5 \eta + \frac{\sqrt{3}}{12}\partial_\mu \hat{\phi}^\mu + \frac{\sqrt{3}}{16}\gamma^5 \gamma^\mu \partial_\mu \eta = 0 \quad (4.33)$$

A further simplification of equations (4.30) and (4.31) can be done by tracing them with ∂_A and ∂_μ respectively. This gives

$$\frac{3i}{8}m^{4}\gamma^{\mu}\partial_{\mu}\partial_{A}\hat{\psi}^{A} + \frac{3i}{32}m^{4}\gamma^{5}\partial^{A}\partial_{A}\lambda + \frac{3\sqrt{6}}{32}m^{6}\kappa \ \gamma^{A}\gamma^{5}\partial_{A}\lambda - \frac{29\sqrt{6}}{72}m^{6}\kappa \ \partial_{A}\hat{\psi}^{A} - \frac{\sqrt{3}}{4}m^{2} \ \gamma^{5}\partial^{A}\partial_{A}\eta - \frac{\sqrt{2}i}{4}m^{4}\kappa \ \gamma^{A}\gamma^{5}\partial_{A}\eta = 0$$

$$(4.34)$$

and

$$\frac{\sqrt{3}}{3}\gamma^{\mu}\partial_{\mu}\partial_{A}\hat{\psi}^{A} + \frac{\sqrt{2}i}{4}m^{2}\kappa\gamma^{\mu}\gamma^{5}\partial_{\mu}\lambda + \frac{\sqrt{6}}{6}\kappa\partial_{\mu}\hat{\phi}^{\mu} - \frac{\sqrt{6}}{8}\kappa\gamma^{\mu}\gamma^{5}\partial_{\mu}\eta = 0.$$
(4.35)

We can then express $\hat{\psi}^A$ in terms of λ and η using equation (4.32),

$$\partial_A \hat{\psi}^A = \frac{3}{8} \gamma^5 \gamma^A \partial_A \lambda + \frac{9\sqrt{6}i}{8} m^2 \kappa \gamma^5 \lambda + 3\sqrt{2}\kappa \gamma^5 \eta.$$
(4.36)

Upon plugging this into equation (4.34), we get an equation relating λ to η

$$\frac{-3i}{8}m^2\partial_A\partial^A\lambda + \frac{17\sqrt{6}}{12}m^4\kappa\ \gamma^A\partial_A\lambda - \frac{87i}{4}m^6\kappa^2\ \lambda - 7\sqrt{2}im^2\kappa\ \gamma^A\partial_A\eta - \frac{58\sqrt{3}}{3}m^4\kappa^2\ \eta - 2\sqrt{3}\ \partial_A\partial^A\ \eta = 0.$$

$$(4.37)$$

Similarly from (4.33) and (4.36) we get an equation for $\partial_A \hat{\phi}^A$

$$\partial_A \hat{\phi}^A = \frac{-\sqrt{3}i}{2} m^2 \gamma^5 \gamma^A \partial_A \lambda + \frac{11\sqrt{2}}{2} m^4 \kappa \ \gamma^5 \lambda - \frac{3}{4} \gamma^5 \gamma_A \partial^A \eta - \frac{7\sqrt{6}i}{2} m^2 \kappa \gamma^5 \eta \quad (4.38)$$

Plugging this into (4.35), we get another equation relating λ and η

$$\frac{-3}{8}\partial_A\partial^A\lambda - \frac{13\sqrt{6}i}{8}m^2\kappa\gamma^A\partial_A\lambda + \frac{11}{2}m^4\kappa^2\ \lambda - 3\sqrt{2}\kappa\ \gamma^A\partial_A\eta - \frac{7\sqrt{3}i}{2}m^2\kappa^2\ \eta = 0.$$
(4.39)

Combining equations (4.37) and (4.39), we get

$$-\frac{5\sqrt{6}}{24}m^4\kappa \ \gamma^A\partial_A\lambda - \frac{109i}{4}m^6\kappa^2 \ \lambda - 4\sqrt{2}i \ m^2\kappa \ \gamma^A\partial_A\eta - \frac{137\sqrt{3}}{6}m^4\kappa^2 \ \eta$$
$$-2\sqrt{3} \ \partial_A\partial^A\eta = 0. \tag{4.40}$$

Since the action is invariant under local supersymmetry transformations, we can choose the gauge $\eta=0$

$$\gamma_A \partial^A \lambda + \frac{109\sqrt{6}}{5} im^2 \kappa \ \lambda = 0. \tag{4.41}$$

This gives a Dirac type equation for the spin-1/2 helicities.

It should be noted that the divergence of $\hat{\phi}$ is found in terms of lambda. However, we can find a combination of $\hat{\phi}_A$ and $\hat{\psi}_A$

$$\hat{\phi}_A' = \hat{\phi}_A + \alpha \hat{\psi}_A \tag{4.42}$$

such that the divergence of $\hat{\phi}'$ equals zero $(\partial^A \hat{\phi}'_A = 0)$ [29]. Then $\hat{\phi}'$ has two helicities 3/2 and -3/2.

4.4 Degrees of Freedom

Counting degrees of freedom, we start with a N = 1 supersymmetry model, and then couple it to Supergravity. We know from section (2.5) that supergravity contains a massless spin-2 graviton with two bosonic degrees of freedom and one massless spin-3/2 gravitino with two fermionic degrees of freedom. For the N = 1supersymmetry model, it is similar to the Wess-Zumino model discussed in section (2.3). It contains four spin-0 particles, φ^A ; however, φ^0 decouples due to the Fierz-Pauli choice. Therefore, there are only six degrees of freedom (3 times 2). For this, we have six fermionic degrees of freedom forming a multiplet. Therefore, we are starting with an overall eight bosonic degrees of freedom and eight fermionic degrees of freedom.

After coupling to Supergravity, we obtain N = 1 massive representation. It contains a single massive spin-2 particle, a single massive vector field and two massive spin-3/2 particles. Each massive spin-3/2 particle has four degrees of freedom, and this constitute the eight fermionic degrees of freedom. For the bosonic degrees of freedom, the massive spin-1 particle has three degrees of freedom, and the massive graviton has five degrees of freedom. Therefore, we have an overall of eight bosonic degrees of freedom which gives us the same number of degrees of freedom as before.

What is noticeable is that at the end we are left with two massive gravitinos. This is similar to the N = 2 supersymmetry in which we have two massive spin-3/2 particles. However, in our case, the two gravitinos have different masses. This is because supersymmetry is completely broken. It is a space-time symmetry and then it is broken exactly at the same scale as the diffeomorphism breaking. We are starting with a supergravity action and a matter action which are independent; therefore, we are left with two massive spin-3/2 particles with completely different masses. There is no N = 2 supersymmetry to start with since before diffeomorphism breaking we had spin 1/2 and not spin 3/2, then the two gravitinos would not have the same mass. When coordinate invariance is broken by the four scalars, the Lorentz symmetry of the tangent manifold gets identified with that of space-time, the four scalars become four-vectors and the spin 1/2 supersymmetric partners become spin 3/2 fields. Therefore, one is a genuine gravitino ϕ_{μ} , while the other ψ_A becomes identified with a gravitino after the breaking.

4.5 LHC and Our Superpartners

The LHC, Large Hadron Collider, with a 27 km loop built near Geneva is

the world's largest and most powerful particle accelerator. It was built between 1998 and 2008 and it first started on 10 September 2008. It has many purposes where it allows to test the predictions of the Standard model and to prove (or disprove) the existence of the Higgs boson, and also to search for the superpartners predicted by supersymmetry.

The LHC is now shutdown for upgrades and it will resume early in 2015 where the beam energy will be increased to reach 6.5 TeV per beam. We hope that some of the open questions will be answered and that superpartners will be found to prove supersymmetry. If this so, then the experiments will tell us at what energies we expect to find our predicted particles in the model built in this thesis.

Chapter 5 Canonical Formulation

The Hamiltonian formulations provide insights mainly for counting degrees of freedom, for canonical quantization purposes and for numerical investigation of solutions. Canonical structures play an important role in quantum gravity and in numerical relativity.

To set up a canonical formulation, one starts by defining momenta to be the time derivatives of the fields. This is used to replace only time derivatives in the Hamiltonian by momenta; therefore, spacial derivatives do not change. In this formulation, space-time symmetry is hidden, but of course still present.

The aim of this chapter is to write Einstein's action in canonical form and find the constraints. First, we will briefly review the Hamiltonian formalism.

5.1 History

Hamiltonian formulation is not a new topic. Dirac, in [36, 37, 40] (see also [51]), set up a general theory for constrained Hamiltonian dynamics which is used

for canonical quantization. Then he applied this procedure to general relativity [38], [41]. Further work was done by Bergmann ([6, 11, 15]) to quantize covariant field theories, like the Einstein's theory of gravity. Then, Arnowitt, Deser and Misner identified the ADM energy as the Hamiltonian after gauge fixing, and they constructed a canonical formulation of gravity in 1962 ([64, 65, 66, 67]). Their canonical formulation is most widely used. The tetrad form of this ADM formalism was derived in [33].

There are other canonical formulations such as the one introduced by Ashtekar where he introduced new variables which lead to simplifications in the gravitational constraints ([7, 8]). His theory led to loop quantum gravity. Later, the canonical formulations of matter couplings to gravity were considered. For example, such canonical formulations for massive scalar fields were found in [69, 70] and for spin-1/2 Dirac field in [39, 53].

5.2 Hamiltonian Formalism

Starting with the action

$$S = \int L(q^i, \dot{q}^i) dt \tag{5.1}$$

for a system of n degrees of freedom, i = 1, ..., n, the conjugated momentum is defined to be

$$p_i = \frac{\partial L}{\partial \dot{q}^i},\tag{5.2}$$

and the Hamiltonian is given by

$$H = \dot{q}^{i} p_{i}(q, \dot{q}) - L(q, \dot{q}).$$
(5.3)

It is a well-defined functional of q^i and p_j with the equations of motion given by

$$\dot{q}^i = \frac{\partial H}{\partial p_i}, \quad \dot{p}_i = -\frac{\partial H}{\partial q^i}.$$
 (5.4)

where they are of first order in the time derivative. These field equations can be expressed in terms of the classical Poisson bracket which is defined to be

$$\{f(q,p),g(q,p)\} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left(\frac{\partial f}{\partial q^{i}}\frac{\partial g}{\partial p_{i}} - \frac{\partial f}{\partial p_{i}}\frac{\partial g}{\partial q^{i}}\right).$$
(5.5)

The equations of motion are then written in the compact form

$$\dot{q}^i = \{q^i, H\}, \quad \dot{p}_i = \{p_i, H\}.$$
(5.6)

The Hamiltonian formulation of field theories is similar to the finite-dimensional system; however, the independent variables are labeled by a continuous parameter x and not by a discrete parameter i. Mathematical care is required for the variational equations or Poisson brackets.

A basic functional derivative is

$$\frac{\delta\phi(x)}{\delta\phi(y)} = \delta(x-y) \quad \text{instead of} \quad \frac{\partial q^i}{\partial q^j} = \delta^i_j, \tag{5.7}$$

and the generalized Poisson bracket is then defined using functional derivatives

$$\{f,g\} = \int dx^n \left(\frac{\partial f}{\partial \phi(x)} \frac{\partial g}{\partial p_{\phi}(x)} - \frac{\partial f}{\partial p_{\phi}(x)} \frac{\partial g}{\partial \phi(x)}\right).$$
(5.8)

5.3 ADM Formalism

Arnowitt, Deser and Misner constructed a canonical formulation of gravity (ADM) in 1962 ([67]). This Hamiltonian formulation requires time to be singled out where spacetime is split into space and time. To write the theory in a 3 + 1dimensional form, we start by considering two hypersurfaces with t = constant(earlier) and t+dt = constant (later) [20]. The 3-geometry of the earlier hypersurface is described by the metric

$$h_{ij}(t, x, y, z)dx^i dx^j. ag{5.9}$$

while that of the later hypersurface is

$$h_{ij}(t+dt, x, y, z)dx^i dx^j.$$

$$(5.10)$$

The proper distance and proper time from the earlier to the later 3-geometry are given in terms of the lapse and shift functions, N and N_i . The proper interval between $x^{\mu} = (t, x^i)$ and $x^{\mu} + dx^{\mu} = (t + dt, x^i + dx^i)$ is found by using the 4dimensional form of the Pythagorean theorem and this yields

$$ds^{2} = h_{ij}(dx^{i} + N^{i}dt)(dx^{j} + N^{j}dt) - (Ndt)^{2} = g_{\mu\nu}dx^{\mu}dx^{\nu}.$$
 (5.11)

The full metric, $g_{\mu\nu}$, is then given by [67]

$$\begin{bmatrix} N_i N^i - N^2 & N_k \\ N_i & h_{ik} \end{bmatrix}$$
(5.12)

and its inverse is

$$\begin{bmatrix} -\frac{1}{N^2} & \frac{N^i}{N^2} \\ \frac{N^k}{N^2} & h^{ik} - N^i N^k / N^2 \end{bmatrix}$$
(5.13)

where h_{ij} is an induced metric on the 3-dimensional hypersurfaces with $h^{ij}h_{jk} = \delta_k^i$. After this splitting of spacetime, Einstein's action

$$S = -\frac{1}{2} \int \sqrt{-g}R \tag{5.14}$$

is written as

$$S_{ADM} = \int d^4x \, \left(\dot{h^{ij}} \pi_{ij} - N^{\mu} H_{\mu} \right) = \int d^4x \, \left(\dot{h^{ij}} \pi_{ij} - N H_0 - N^i H_i \right) \quad (5.15)$$

where π_{ij} is the canonical momentum given by

$$\pi_{ij} = \frac{\partial}{\partial \dot{h}^{ij}} \left(\sqrt{-g} L_{ADM} \right) = \sqrt{h} \left(h_{ij} K - K_{ij} \right)$$
(5.16)

and K_{ij} is the extrinsic curvature

$$K_{ij} = \frac{1}{2N} (N_{i|j} + N_{j|i} - \dot{h}_{ij}).$$
(5.17)

 H_0 and H_i are called the Hamiltonian and the diffeomorphism constraints respectively. They are given by the intrinsic curvatures

$$H_{0} = R_{0} \equiv -\sqrt{h} \left[{}^{3}R + h^{-1} \left(\frac{1}{2} \pi^{2} - \pi^{ij} \pi_{ij} \right) \right]$$
$$H_{i} = R_{i} \equiv -2h_{ik} \pi^{kj}_{\ |j}$$
(5.18)

The action is in the first order form (first order time derivatives enter) where only the time derivative of h_{ij} enter into the action. \dot{N} and \dot{N}^i are not involved; i.e. their momenta are not defined and they are not dynamical variables. Therefore, the Hamiltonian of general relativity is a function of h_{ij} and its conjugate momentum π^{ij} , while the lapse and shift functions enter as Lagrange multipliers. Variation with respect to N and N_i give constraint equations.

5.4 Equations of Motion of GR

Computing the Hamiltonian field equations, we first have the propagation of the h_{ij}

$$\dot{h}_{ij} = \{h_{ij}, H_g\} = 2Nh^{-1/2} \left(\pi_{ij} - \frac{1}{2}h_{ij}\pi\right) + N_{i|j} + N_{j|i}.$$
(5.19)

where

$$H_g = \int d^3x \left(NR_0 + N^i R_i \right). \tag{5.20}$$

This restates equation (5.16), the defining equation of the canonical momentum in terms of the metric tensor and its derivatives. Second, there is another set of six equations determining the propagation of π^{ij}

$$\dot{\pi}^{ij} = \{\pi^{ij}, H_g\} = -\frac{\delta H_g}{\delta h_{ij}}.$$
(5.21)

Varying the Hamiltonian with respect to h_{ij} and using

$$\frac{\delta h_{kl}(x)}{\delta h_{ij}(y)} = \delta^i_{\ (k} \delta^j_{\ l)} \delta(x, y) = \frac{1}{2} \left(\delta^i_k \delta^j_l + \delta^i_l \delta^j_k \right) \delta(x, y), \tag{5.22}$$

gives

$$\dot{\pi}^{ij} = -N\sqrt{h} \left({}^{3}R^{ij} - \frac{1}{2}h^{ij} {}^{3}R \right) + \frac{1}{2}Nh^{-1/2}h^{ij} \left(\pi^{mn}\pi_{mn} - \frac{1}{2}\pi^{2} \right) - 2Nh^{-1/2} \left(\pi^{im}\pi_{m}^{\ j} - \frac{1}{2}\pi\pi^{ij} \right) + \sqrt{h} \left(N^{|ij} - h^{ij}N^{|m} |_{m} \right) + \left(\pi^{ij}N^{m} \right)_{|m} - N^{i}_{|m}\pi^{mj} - N^{j}_{|m}\pi^{mi}$$
(5.23)

These six equations correspond to the six field equations $G^{ij} = 0$. Variation with respect to N and Nⁱ yield four constraint equations, $H_{\mu} = 0$. These are equivalent
to the Einstein's field equations

$$G^{0}_{\mu} = R^{0}_{\mu} - \frac{1}{2}\delta^{0}_{\mu}R = 0.$$
 (5.24)

The existence of the constraints shows that initial values cannot be arbitrarily chosen. Their presence also means that there are underlying symmetries. These first class constraints generate gauge transformations, which are equivalent to coordinate changes [12].

Counting the degrees of freedom, the basic variables, g_{ij} and π^{ij} , are both symmetric variables thus having twelve independent components. Four are eliminated by the four independent constraints. Out of the eight remaining, another four degrees of freedom can be gauged away by gauge transformations. Then we are left with four phase space degrees of freedom which recover the two degrees of freedom of the graviton.

5.5 Poisson Brackets of GR

To construct the algebra of the first class constraints, it is more convenient to work with smeared forms. This will ensure well-defined algebraic relations since the derivatives by field will then be free of delta distributions.

Consider the smeared quantities, H[N] and $D[N^i]$, given by the integration with

respect to the multipliers N and N^i

$$H[N] = \int d^3x N(x) H^0(x) \text{ and } D[N^i] = \int d^3x N^i(x) H_i(x)$$
 (5.25)

Working out the Poisson brackets of the constraints, then we obtain [12]

$$\{\mathbf{H}[N_1], \mathbf{H}[N_2]\} = \mathbf{D} \left[h^{ij} \left(N_2 \partial_j N_1 - N_1 \partial_j N_2 \right) \right]$$
$$\{\mathbf{D}[N^i_1], \mathbf{D}[N^i_2]\} = \mathbf{D} \left[N_1^i \partial_i N_2^j - N_2^i \partial_i N_1^j \right]$$
$$\{\mathbf{D}[N^i_1], \mathbf{H}[N_2]\} = \mathbf{H}[N_1^i \partial_i N_2].$$
(5.26)

These equations are equivalent to the Dirac algebra [40] (see also [35]).

Chapter 6

Canonical Formulation of Mimetic Dark Matter

Dark matter does not interact with electromagnetic waves; it neither emits nor absorbs electromagnetic radiation, making it hard to be observed. Its existence was proposed to give the galaxies extra mass, since they are spinning faster than we can explain with known laws of physics and the galaxies observed mass. They cannot be held together with the gravity generated by their observable matter; the extra mass generates extra gravity. This gravitational effect of dark matter on visible matter inferred its existence.

Dark matter outweighs visible matter. The universe contains 4.9% ordinary matter, 26.8% dark matter and 68.3% dark energy out of the total mass-energy. So the matter we know accounts only for approximately 5% of the content of the universe; while dark matter and dark energy constitute 95% of the total content of the universe. Out of the total matter in the universe, 84.5% is dark matter.

In this chapter, we review the recently proposed theory of mimetic dark matter [24] and we construct its Hamiltonian formulation [60].

6.1 Mimetic Dark Matter

Not long ago, Chamseddine and Mukhanov [24] modified Einstein's theory of gravity to propose a theory of mimetic dark matter. Their theory is a conformal extension of Einstein's general relativity. They considered a physical metric, $g_{\mu\nu}$, in terms of an auxiliary metric, $\tilde{g}_{\mu\nu}$, and a scalar field ϕ . It is defined by

$$g_{\mu\nu} = \left(\tilde{g}^{\alpha\beta}\partial_{\alpha}\phi\partial_{\beta}\phi\right)\tilde{g}_{\mu\nu},\tag{6.1}$$

where the scalar field enter only through first derivative. This physical metric is invariant with respect to the conformal transformation of the auxiliary metric, $\tilde{g}_{\mu\nu} \rightarrow \Omega^2 \tilde{g}_{\mu\nu}$.

The action is constructed in terms of the physical metric which is considered as a function of the auxiliary metric and the scalar. Varying the action with respect to the auxiliary metric results in a traceless equation of motion, while the variation with respect to the scalar returns a differential equation for the trace part. These equations are given respectively by

$$(G^{\mu\nu} - T^{\mu\nu}) - (G - T) g^{\mu\alpha} g^{\nu\beta} \partial_{\alpha} \phi \partial_{\beta} \phi = 0$$

$$\nabla_{\kappa} \left((G - T) \partial^{\kappa} \phi \right) = 0.$$
(6.2)

where $G^{\mu\nu}$ and $T^{\mu\nu}$ are Einstein's tensor and the energy momentum tensor respec-

tively. The trace of the former equation is

$$(G-T)\left(1-g^{\mu\nu}\partial_{\mu}\phi\partial_{\nu}\phi\right) = 0 \tag{6.3}$$

which is satisfied even for $G - T \neq 0$ because the scalar field satisfies the constraint equation

$$g^{\mu\nu}\partial_{\mu}\phi\partial_{\nu}\phi = 1. \tag{6.4}$$

It was shown that even in the absence of matter, $T_{\mu\nu} = 0$, the conformal degree of freedom can mimic Dark matter. This dust fluid has a stress tensor given by

$$\tilde{T}^{\mu\nu} = (G - T) g^{\mu\alpha} g^{\nu\beta} \partial_{\alpha} \phi \partial_{\beta} \phi.$$
(6.5)

Therefore, it is a pressureless fluid with energy density G - T, and a four-velocity $u^{\mu} = g^{\mu\alpha}\partial_{\alpha}\phi$ satisfying the normalization condition $u^{\mu}u_{\mu} = 1$.

In [50], an equivalent formulation of this model is given without introducing the auxiliary metric. Their action is given by

$$S = -\int \left(R(g) + \lambda \left(1 - g^{\mu\nu} \partial_{\mu} \phi \partial_{\nu} \phi \right) \right) \sqrt{-g} d^4x.$$
(6.6)

Then the ghost free models of this theory were discussed in [10]. It was found that the theory is free of ghost instabilities for a positive energy density. Recently, an arbitrary potential was added to the action to form an extension of the mimetic dark matter theory [3]. Cosmological solutions were studied and it was shown how choosing an appropriate potential can lead to various cosmological solutions.

In short, this model is predicting dark matter without introducing matter. It will be experimentally ruled out once a dark matter particle is found. One could add the proposed Lagrangian to a galaxy and then compare with the existed data to check the validity of the theory.

6.2 Hamiltonian Formulation of the Extended Theory

The action of the extended mimetic dark matter theory, where an arbitrary potential, $V(\phi)$, is added, can be written as the following

$$S = -\int d^4x (-g)^{1/2} \left(\frac{1}{2}R + \frac{1}{2}\lambda \left(1 - g^{\mu\nu}\partial_{\mu}\phi\partial_{\nu}\phi \right) + V(\phi) + L_m \right)$$
(6.7)

where L_m is the matter Lagrangian. Variation with respect to λ gives the constraint equation

$$g^{\mu\nu}\partial_{\mu}\phi\partial_{\nu}\phi = 1. \tag{6.8}$$

The first step in constructing the canonical formalism is to write the action in a 3 + 1 dimensional form by splitting spacetime into space and time. The part of the action depending on the scalar field is given by

$$S = -\int d^4x N h^{1/2} \left(\frac{1}{2} \lambda \left(1 - g^{00} \partial_0 \phi \partial_0 \phi - 2g^{0i} \partial_0 \phi \partial_i \phi + h^{ij} \partial_i \phi \partial_j \phi - \frac{N^i N^j}{N^2} \partial_i \phi \partial_j \phi \right) \right)$$

$$-N\sqrt{h}V\left(\phi\right) \tag{6.9}$$

where g^{00} , g^{0i} and g^{ij} are defined with the signature (+, -, -, -).

Varying the Lagrangian with respect to the time derivative of ϕ , we get the momentum conjugate to ϕ which is found to be

$$p = \frac{\partial L}{\partial \dot{\phi}} = N\sqrt{h\lambda} \left(g^{00}\partial_0\phi + g^{0i}\partial_i\phi\right)$$
$$\Rightarrow \dot{\phi} = \frac{Np}{\sqrt{h\lambda}} + N^i\partial_i\phi \tag{6.10}$$

while the variation with respect to $\dot{\lambda}$ will result in a primary constraint

$$p_{\lambda} = \frac{\partial L}{\partial \lambda} = 0. \tag{6.11}$$

Demanding that this primary constraint is preserved under the time evolution gives a secondary constraint

$$\dot{p}_{\lambda} = -\{p_{\lambda}, H\} = -\frac{\partial H}{\partial \lambda} = 0$$
(6.12)

Writing the Lagrangian as

$$L = -\frac{1}{2}Nh^{1/2}\lambda\left(1 + g^{00}\dot{\phi}^2 + h^{ij}\partial_i\phi\partial_j\phi - \frac{N^iN^j}{N^2}\partial_i\phi\partial_j\phi\right) + p\dot{\phi} - N\sqrt{h}V(\phi) \quad (6.13)$$

then the Hamiltonian is given by

 $H = p\dot{\phi} - L$

$$=\frac{1}{2}Nh^{1/2}\lambda\left(1+g^{00}\dot{\phi}^2+h^{ij}\partial_i\phi\partial_j\phi-\frac{N^iN^j}{N^2}\partial_i\phi\partial_j\phi\right)+N\sqrt{h}V(\phi) \quad (6.14)$$

Using equation (6.10), we plug for $\dot{\phi}$ in terms of p, then we get

$$H = \frac{Np^2}{2\sqrt{h\lambda}} + \frac{1}{2}N\sqrt{h\lambda}\left[1 + h^{ij}\partial_i\phi\partial_j\phi\right] + pN^i\partial_i\phi + N\sqrt{h}V(\phi).$$
(6.15)

This Hamiltonian is still a function of the lagrange multiplier λ . To find it, we solve the secondary constraint $\frac{\partial H}{\partial \lambda} = 0$. This gives

$$\lambda = \frac{p}{\sqrt{h}\sqrt{h^{ij}\partial_i\phi\partial_j\phi + 1}} \tag{6.16}$$

Plugging back we get the total action

$$\int d^4x \, \left(L_{ADM} + p\dot{\phi} - Np\sqrt{h^{ij}\partial_i\phi\partial_j\phi + 1} - N^ip\partial_i\phi - N\sqrt{h}V(\phi) \right) \tag{6.17}$$

where L_{ADM} is given in section 5.3. The total action is then by

$$S_{t} = \int d^{4}x \left(\dot{h^{ij}} \pi_{ij} + p\dot{\phi} - N \left(p\sqrt{h^{ij}\partial_{i}\phi\partial_{j}\phi} + 1 + R^{0} \right) - N^{i} \left(p\partial_{i}\phi + R_{i} \right) - N\sqrt{h}V(\phi) \right)$$

$$(6.18)$$

6.3 Equations of Motion

The field variables of the total action are (h^{ij}, π_{ij}) and (p, ϕ) . The lapse and shift functions, N and Nⁱ, still appear linearly and variation of the Lagrangian with respect to both will return constraint equations. The equations of motion are found to be

• Varying with respect to π_{ij}

$$\dot{h}^{ij} = 2Nh^{-1/2} \left(\pi^{ij} - \frac{1}{2}h^{ij}\pi \right) + N^{i|j} + N^{j|i}$$
(6.19)

This equation is that of Einstein's theory of gravity. It is independent of ϕ since the part of the action depending on the scalar field is independent of π_{ij} .

• With respect to h^{ij}

$$\dot{\pi}_{ij} = -N\sqrt{h} \left({}^{3}R_{ij} - \frac{1}{2}h_{ij} {}^{3}R \right) + \frac{1}{2}Nh^{-1/2}h_{ij} \left(\pi^{mn}\pi_{mn} - \frac{1}{2}\pi^{2} \right) - 2Nh^{-1/2} \left(\pi_{im}\pi_{j}^{m} - \frac{1}{2}\pi\pi_{ij} \right) + \sqrt{h} \left(N_{|ij} - h_{ij}N^{|m|}_{|m|} \right) + \left(\pi_{ij}N^{m} \right)_{|m|} - N_{i}^{|m}\pi_{mj} - N_{j}^{|m}\pi_{mi} + \frac{Np\partial_{i}\phi\partial_{j}\phi}{2\sqrt{h^{kl}\partial_{k}\phi\partial_{l}\phi + 1}} - \frac{1}{2}N\sqrt{h}V(\phi)h_{ij}$$
(6.20)

This equation includes two more terms than those of general relativity, coming from the part of the action depending on the scalar field ϕ .

• With respect to N

$$R^{0} + p\sqrt{h^{ij}\partial_{i}\phi\partial_{j}\phi + 1} + \sqrt{h}V(\phi) = H_{grav} + H_{\phi} = 0$$
(6.21)

• With respect to N^i

$$R_i + p\partial_i \phi = H_{i\,grav} + H_{i\,\phi} = 0 \tag{6.22}$$

The above equations, (6.21) and (6.22), are the four modified constraint equations. They now include also the fields (ϕ, p) .

 $\bullet\,$ Two more equations are left. The first is obtained by varying with respect to p

$$\dot{\phi} - N\sqrt{h^{ij}\partial_i\phi\partial_j\phi + 1} - N^i\partial_i\phi = 0 \tag{6.23}$$

• The second is the variation with respect to ϕ

$$\dot{p} - \partial_k \left(\frac{Np \partial^k \phi}{\sqrt{h^{ij} \partial_i \phi \partial_j \phi + 1}} + N^k p \right) + N \sqrt{h} \ \frac{dV(\phi)}{d\phi} = 0 \tag{6.24}$$

Therefore, we have two more equations than those of Einstein's theory of gravity, coming from the variation of ϕ and p. However, if we write the constraint equation $g^{\mu\nu}\partial_{\mu}\phi\partial_{\nu}\phi = 1$ in a 3 + 1 dimensional form,

$$g^{00}\dot{\phi}^2 + g^{0i}\dot{\phi}\partial_i\phi + h^{ij}\partial_i\phi\partial_j\phi - \frac{N^iN^j}{N^2}\partial_i\phi\partial_j\phi = 1, \qquad (6.25)$$

then we get a quadratic equation for $\dot{\phi}$. Its solution is exactly equation (6.23). This means that the equation for the scalar field ϕ gives us no new info.

Considering the other equation, eq. (6.24), we are going to show that it is exactly the Bianchi identity. To prove this we will first start by finding the energy-momentum tensor.

Consider the action part depending on the scalar field ϕ , it is given by

$$S_{\phi} = \int d^4x \, \left(p\dot{\phi} - Np\sqrt{h^{ij}\partial_i\phi\partial_j\phi + 1} - N^ip\partial_i\phi - N\sqrt{h}V(\phi) \right). \tag{6.26}$$

The canonical components of the stress energy tensor, found by varying the action, are given by [12]

$$T_{00} = -\frac{N}{\sqrt{h}} \left(N \frac{\delta S_{\phi}}{\delta N} + 2N^{i} \frac{\delta S_{\phi}}{\delta N^{i}} + 2 \frac{N i N j}{N^{2}} \frac{\delta S_{\phi}}{\delta h^{ij}} \right)$$
$$T_{0i} = -\frac{N}{\sqrt{h}} \left(\frac{\delta S_{\phi}}{\delta N^{i}} + 2 \frac{N^{j}}{N^{2}} \frac{\delta S_{\phi}}{\delta h^{ij}} \right)$$
$$T_{ij} = -\frac{2}{N\sqrt{h}} \left(\frac{\delta S_{\phi}}{\delta h^{ij}} \right).$$
(6.27)

Computing the variations, we have

$$\frac{\delta S_{\phi}}{\delta N} = -p\sqrt{h^{ij}\partial_i\phi\partial_j\phi + 1} - \sqrt{h}V(\phi)$$

$$\frac{\delta S_{\phi}}{\delta N^i} = -p\partial_i\phi$$

$$\frac{\delta S_{\phi}}{\delta h^{ij}} = -\frac{Np}{2}\frac{\partial_i\phi\partial_j\phi}{\sqrt{h^{ij}\partial_i\phi\partial_j\phi + 1}} + \frac{N\sqrt{h}}{2}h_{ij}V(\phi)$$
(6.28)

Plugging back, we get the components of $T_{\mu\nu}$. These are given by

$$\begin{split} T_{00} &= \frac{N^2 p}{\sqrt{h}} \sqrt{h^{ij} \partial_i \phi \partial_j \phi + 1} + \frac{2N}{\sqrt{h}} N^i p \partial_i \phi + \frac{N^i N^j}{\sqrt{h}} \frac{p \partial_i \phi \partial_j \phi}{\sqrt{h^{ij} \partial_i \phi \partial_j \phi + 1}} \\ &+ N^2 V(\phi) - N^i N_i V(\phi) \\ T_{0i} &= \frac{N}{\sqrt{h}} p \partial_i \phi + \frac{N^j}{\sqrt{h}} \frac{p \partial_i \phi \partial_j \phi}{\sqrt{h^{ij} \partial_i \phi \partial_j \phi + 1}} - N_i V(\phi) \end{split}$$

$$T_{ij} = \frac{p\partial_i \phi \partial_j \phi}{\sqrt{h_i \partial_j \phi \partial_j \phi + 1}} - h_{ij} V(\phi).$$
(6.29)

This in complete agreement with the energy-momentum tensor found in the Lagrangian formalism, $T_{\mu\nu} = \lambda \partial_{\mu} \phi \partial_{\nu} \phi$, upon using equation (6.23).

Let us start from the definition of the covariant derivative

$$\nabla_{\mu}T^{\mu}_{\nu} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{-g}}\partial_{\mu}\left(\sqrt{-g}T^{\mu}_{\nu}\right) - \Gamma^{\mu}_{\nu\rho}T^{\rho}_{\mu}.$$
(6.30)

The T^{μ}_{ν} components are obtained by raising the index appropriately. Expressing then ${}^{(4)}\Gamma$ in term ${}^{(3)}\Gamma$ and simplifying, it is easy to show that equation (6.24) is just the identity $\nabla_{\mu}T^{\mu}_{i} = \nabla_{0}T^{0}_{i} + \nabla_{j}T^{j}_{i} = 0.$

This shows that the mimetic gravity has the same number of equations as that of Einstein's gravity since the two added equations are the constraint equation and the conservation of the energy-momentum tensor. However, the equations resulting from the variation with respect to h^{ij} , N and N^i are those of pure Einstein's gravity plus extra terms as a function of the scalar field ϕ . This is how the mimetic dark matter enters the picture.

6.4 Poisson Brackets

As shown in the previous section, the constraints can be decomposed into

the gravitational part plus the scalar field part. These are written as

$$H = H_{grav} + H_{\phi}; \quad H_i = H_{i\,grav} + H_{i\,\phi}. \tag{6.31}$$

This is a 'non-derivative' coupling where the H_{ϕ} is independent of the gravitational momentum π_{ij} [74]. Working with the smeared functions introduced before (in section 5.5), then the Poisson bracket of two Hamiltonian constraints splits into

$$\{\mathbf{H}[N_{1}], \mathbf{H}[N_{2}]\} = \{\mathbf{H}_{grav}[N_{1}] + \mathbf{H}_{\phi}[N_{1}], \mathbf{H}_{grav}[N_{2}] + \mathbf{H}_{\phi}[N_{2}]\}$$
$$= \{\mathbf{H}_{grav}[N_{1}], \mathbf{H}_{grav}[N_{2}]\} + \{\mathbf{H}_{grav}[N_{1}], \mathbf{H}_{\phi}[N_{2}]\}$$
$$+ \{\mathbf{H}_{\phi}[N_{1}], \mathbf{H}_{grav}[N_{2}]\} + \{\mathbf{H}_{\phi}[N_{1}], \mathbf{H}_{\phi}[N_{2}]\}$$
(6.32)

This can be simplified because the gravitational Hamiltonian constraint is independent of the spatial derivatives of momenta, then the two Poisson brackets $\{H_{grav}, H_{\phi}\}$ and $\{H_{\phi}, H_{grav}\}$ cancel out, and we get

$$\{\mathbf{H}[N_1], \mathbf{H}[N_2]\} = \{\mathbf{H}_{grav}[N_1], \mathbf{H}_{grav}[N_2]\} + \{\mathbf{H}_{\phi}[N_1], \mathbf{H}_{\phi}[N_2]\}$$
(6.33)

To compute this, we first find the functional derivatives and then plug in equation

(5.8). The functional derivatives of the scalar Hamiltonian constraint are

$$\frac{\delta \mathbf{H}_{\phi}[N]}{\delta \varphi(x)} = -\partial_{i} \left(\frac{p N h^{ij} \partial_{j} \phi}{\sqrt{h^{kl} \partial_{k} \phi \partial_{l} \phi + 1}} \right) + N \sqrt{h} \frac{dV}{d\phi};$$
$$\frac{\delta \mathbf{H}_{\phi}[N]}{\delta p(x)} = N \sqrt{h^{kl} \partial_{k} \phi \partial_{l} \phi + 1}$$
(6.34)

This gives upon plugging in the integral

$$\{\mathbf{H}_{\phi}[N_1], \mathbf{H}_{\phi}[N_2]\} = \mathbf{D}_{\phi}\left[N_3^i\right]$$
(6.35)

where

$$N_{3}^{i} = h^{ij} \left(N_{2} \partial_{j} N_{1} - N_{1} \partial_{j} N_{2} \right).$$
(6.36)

Similarly the Poisson bracket of two diffeomorphism constraints is computed by first finding their functional derivatives

$$\frac{\delta \mathbf{D}_{\phi}}{\delta \phi} = -\partial_i (pN^i)$$
$$\frac{\delta \mathbf{D}_{\phi}}{\delta p} = N^i \partial_i \phi \tag{6.37}$$

and then upon integration

$$\left\{ \mathbf{D}_{\phi}[N^{i}_{1}], \mathbf{D}_{\phi}[N^{i}_{2}] \right\} = \mathbf{D}_{\phi} \left[N_{1}^{i} \partial_{i} N_{2}^{j} - N_{2}^{i} \partial_{i} N_{1}^{j} \right].$$
(6.38)

In computing the third Poisson bracket, $\{\mathbf{D}[N^i], \mathbf{H}[N]\}$, the cross term $\{\mathbf{D}_{grav}[N^i], \mathbf{H}_{\phi}[N]\}$

survives because the scalar Hamiltonian constraint H_{ϕ} is a function of the metric h^{ij} . Therefore, we have

$$\left\{ \mathbf{D}[N^{i}], \mathbf{H}[N] \right\} = \left\{ \mathbf{D}_{grav}[N^{i}], \mathbf{H}_{grav}[N] \right\} + \left\{ \mathbf{D}_{\phi}[N^{i}], \mathbf{H}_{\phi}[N] \right\} + \left\{ \mathbf{D}_{grav}[N^{i}], \mathbf{H}_{\phi}[N] \right\}.$$
(6.39)

The Poisson bracket for the scalar constraints is found by using equations (6.34) and (6.37). Upon integrating by parts we get

$$\left\{\mathbf{D}_{\phi}[N^{i}], \mathbf{H}_{\phi}[N]\right\} = \mathbf{H}_{\phi}[N^{i}\partial_{i}N] - \frac{N^{k}_{\ |i}pNh^{ij}\partial_{j}\phi\partial_{k}\phi}{\sqrt{h^{rs}\partial_{r}\phi\partial_{s}\phi + 1}}.$$
(6.40)

To find $\{\mathbf{D}_{grav}[N^i], \mathbf{H}_{\phi}[N]\}$, we use equation (5.18). Then we have

$$\frac{\delta D_{grav}}{\delta \pi_{ij}} = 2N^i_{\ |k} \ h^{kj} \tag{6.41}$$

which gives upon integrating by parts

$$\left\{\mathbf{D}_{grav}[N^{i}], \mathbf{H}_{\phi}[N]\right\} = \frac{N^{k}_{|i}pNh^{ij}\partial_{j}\phi\partial_{k}\phi}{\sqrt{h^{rs}\partial_{r}\phi\partial_{s}\phi + 1}}.$$
(6.42)

Then the combined result is the one expected,

$$\left\{ \mathbf{D}[N^{i}], \mathbf{H}[N] \right\} = \mathbf{H} \left[N^{i} \partial_{i} N \right].$$
(6.43)

Therefore the full constraint algebra is equivalent to that of general relativity (equa-

tion 5.26).

6.5 Canonical Formulation of Dust

In this section, we compare the Hamiltonian formulation of mimetic dark matter to that of dust which was done by Brown and Kuchar [14]. They wrote the four-velocity u_{α} of the dust as $u_{\alpha} = -\partial_{\alpha}T + W_i\partial_{\alpha}Z^i$ where Z_i are the comoving coordinates of the dust particles, T is the proper time and W_i are the 3-velocity components. The canonical action is then given by

$$S^{D} = \int d^{4}x \left(P\dot{T} + P_{i}\dot{Z}^{i} - NH^{D} - N^{i}H_{i}^{D} \right)$$
(6.44)

where Z_i and T are the canonical coordinates,

$$H^{D} = P\sqrt{h^{ij}u_{i}u_{j} - 1} \quad and \quad H^{D}_{i} = -Pu_{i} = P\partial_{i}T - PW_{k}\partial_{i}Z^{k}$$
(6.45)

This agrees with our results when $Z_i = 0$. The scalar field ϕ is then the proper time T. This agrees with the Lagrangian analysis when it was shown that in the synchronous gauge $\phi = T$.

Chapter 7 Conclusions and Future Work

In this work, two problems were considered, supersymmetrizing massive gravity and constructing the canonical formulation of mimetic dark matter. Starting from four chiral superfields with global Lorentz index instead of the four scalars used in the bosonic case, the basic field was defined. Also, supermultiplets were formed and the matter action was constructed. When this was coupled to the Supergravity action using the rules of tensor calculus, global symmetry was promoted to a local one. Applying the conditions forced on the total action, it was found out that the matter action is formed of three D-type terms and two F-type terms.

Once the scalar fields of the chiral multiplets acquire a vacuum expectation value, then local supersymmetry is broken exactly at the same scale as the diffeomorphism breaking. This breaking of coordinate invariance identified the four scalars with four-vectors and the spin-1/2 with a spin-3/2 Rarita Schwinger field. Therefore, we are left with a massive vector, two massive spin-3/2 fields with different masses, and a massive spin-2 particle. The two gravitinos does not have the same mass since there is no N=2 supersymmetry to start with. Before diffeomorphism breaking we had spin-1/2 and not spin 3/2; then, the two gravitinos would not have the same mass since one is a genuine gravitino, while the other becomes identified with a gravitino after the breaking.

Equations of motion were found and analyzed and then degrees of freedom were counted. Before coupling to supergravity, we started with eight bosonic and eight fermionic degrees of freedom. This is preserved after the coupling where we are left with the same degrees of freedom.

Further work can be done by generalizing the work in [16] to the supersymmetric case using the quadratic formulation in [22]; however, this is much more complicated since it needs a superspace formulation of supergravity [78]. Also, in this work, the structure at the non-linear level, a much more difficult task, was not touched. Analysis at higher orders may reveal ghosts. But then the Vainshtein scale could be found and we expect things to be similar to massive gravity. This means that when we go to higher orders, we expect the non-linear ghost to be found in the strong coupling regime where it is completely harmless.

Next, mimetic dark matter was studied in its canonical form. The Hamiltonian was first constructed and then the equations of motion were analyzed. It was found that the number of equations is equal to that in general relativity plus two more equations coming from the variation with respect to the two extra phase variables. However, the equation for the scalar field was reinterpreted as the conservation of the energy-momentum tensor, and the other is just the constraint equation, $g^{\mu\nu}\partial_{\mu}\phi\partial_{\nu}\phi = 1$. Therefore, we have an extra field, ϕ , modifying Einstein's equations while keeping the same number of equations. This is how dark matter is represented. Poisson brackets are computed and closure is proved. Also, comparison with the Hamiltonian formulation of dust is done. This shows the equivalence between the two models and proves that the modification done to Einstein's action is representing dark matter. Further work could be done on applications of the Hamiltonian quantization such as to solve the Wheeler-DeWitt equations.

Appendix A Notation and Convention

Metric: $g_{\mu\nu} = diag \{1, -1, -1, -1\}$

Pauli matrices:

$$\sigma^{1} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}; \ \sigma^{2} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -i \\ i & 0 \end{pmatrix}; \ \sigma^{3} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix}$$

Dirac spinor:

$$\Psi = \begin{pmatrix} \psi_{\alpha} \\ \bar{\chi}^{\dot{\alpha}} \end{pmatrix};$$

Adjoint Dirac spinor:

$$\bar{\Psi} \equiv \Psi^* \gamma_0 = \left(\chi^\alpha \; \bar{\psi}_{\dot{\alpha}} \right)$$

Majorana spinor:

$$\Psi_M = \begin{pmatrix} \psi_\alpha \\ \bar{\psi}_{\dot{\alpha}} \end{pmatrix}; \qquad \bar{\Psi}_M = \left(\psi^\alpha \, \bar{\psi}_{\dot{\alpha}} \right)$$

Grassman spinor:

$$\theta^{\alpha} = \begin{pmatrix} \theta^1 \\ \theta^2 \end{pmatrix}; \, \bar{\theta}^{\dot{\alpha}} = \begin{pmatrix} \bar{\theta}^1 \\ \bar{\theta}^2 \end{pmatrix}$$

 $\bar{\psi}_{\dot{\alpha}} \equiv (\psi_{\alpha})^*$ and $\chi^{\alpha} \equiv \left(\bar{\chi}^{\dot{\alpha}}\right)^*$

Antisymmetric ϵ -matrices:

$$\epsilon_{\alpha\beta} = \epsilon_{\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1\\ -1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}; \ \epsilon^{\alpha\beta} = \epsilon^{\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -1\\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

As a convention, repeated spinor indices contracted like $^{\alpha}{}_{\alpha}~~or~~{}_{\dot{\alpha}}{}^{\dot{\alpha}}$

$$\gamma^{\mu} \equiv \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \sigma^{\mu} \\ \bar{\sigma}^{\mu} & 0 \end{pmatrix}; \quad \gamma^{5} \equiv i\gamma^{0}\gamma^{1}\gamma^{2}\gamma^{3} = \begin{pmatrix} -1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$$
(A.1)

There are also the following useful identities:

$$\begin{split} (\sigma^{\mu})_{\alpha\dot{\beta}} &= \epsilon_{\dot{\beta}\dot{\alpha}}\epsilon_{\alpha\beta} \left(\bar{\sigma}^{\mu}\right)^{\dot{\alpha}\beta}; \quad (\bar{\sigma}^{\mu})^{\dot{\alpha}\beta} = \epsilon^{\beta\alpha}\epsilon^{\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}} \left(\sigma^{\mu}\right)_{\alpha\dot{\beta}} \\ (\sigma^{\mu})_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}} \left(\bar{\sigma}^{\nu}\right)_{\beta\dot{\beta}}^{\dot{\alpha}} &= Tr \left(\sigma^{\mu}\bar{\sigma}^{\nu}\right) = 2\eta^{\mu\nu} \\ (\sigma^{\mu})_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}} \left(\sigma_{\mu}\right)_{\beta\dot{\beta}}^{\dot{\beta}} &= 2\epsilon_{\alpha\beta}\epsilon_{\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}} \\ (\sigma^{\mu})_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}} \left(\bar{\sigma}_{\mu}\right)^{\beta\dot{\beta}} &= 2\delta^{\alpha}_{\alpha}\delta^{\dot{\beta}}_{\dot{\alpha}} \\ (\sigma^{\mu\nu})_{\alpha}^{\beta} &\equiv \frac{i}{4} \left(\sigma^{\mu}\bar{\sigma}^{\nu} - \sigma^{\nu}\bar{\sigma}^{\mu}\right)_{\alpha}^{\beta}; \quad (\bar{\sigma}^{\mu\nu})^{\dot{\alpha}}_{\phantom{\dot{\beta}}\beta} \equiv \frac{i}{4} \left(\bar{\sigma}^{\mu}\sigma^{\nu} - \bar{\sigma}^{\nu}\sigma^{\mu}\right)^{\dot{\alpha}}_{\phantom{\dot{\beta}}\beta} \\ \sigma^{\mu\nu} &= \frac{1}{2i}\epsilon^{\mu\nu\rho\sigma}\sigma_{\rho\sigma}; \quad \bar{\sigma}^{\mu\nu} = \frac{-1}{2i}\epsilon^{\mu\nu\rho\sigma}\bar{\sigma}_{\rho\sigma} \\ (\sigma^{\mu}\bar{\sigma}^{\nu} + \sigma^{\nu}\bar{\sigma}^{\mu})_{\alpha}^{\beta} &= 2\eta^{\mu\nu}\delta^{\beta}_{\dot{\beta}}; \quad (\bar{\sigma}^{\mu}\sigma^{\nu} + \bar{\sigma}^{\nu}\sigma^{\mu})^{\dot{\alpha}}_{\phantom{\dot{\beta}}\beta} = 2\eta^{\mu\nu}\delta^{\dot{\alpha}}_{\dot{\beta}} \\ \sigma^{\mu}\bar{\sigma}^{\nu}\sigma^{\rho} + \sigma^{\rho}\bar{\sigma}^{\nu}\sigma^{\mu} &= 2 \left(\eta^{\mu\nu}\sigma^{\rho} + \eta^{\nu\rho}\sigma^{\mu} - \eta^{\mu\rho}\sigma^{\nu}\right) \\ \bar{\sigma}^{\mu}\bar{\sigma}^{\nu}\bar{\sigma}^{\rho} - \sigma^{\rho}\bar{\sigma}^{\nu}\sigma^{\mu} = 2i\epsilon^{\mu\nu\rho\kappa}\bar{\sigma}_{\kappa} \\ \bar{\sigma}^{\mu}\sigma^{\nu}\bar{\sigma}^{\rho} - \bar{\sigma}^{\rho}\sigma^{\nu}\bar{\sigma}^{\mu} &= 2i\epsilon^{\mu\nu\rho\kappa}\bar{\sigma}_{\kappa} \\ Tr \left(\sigma^{\mu}\bar{\sigma}^{\nu}\sigma^{\rho}\bar{\sigma}^{\kappa}\right) &= 2 \left(\eta^{\mu\nu}\eta^{\rho\kappa} + \eta^{\mu\kappa}\eta^{\nu\rho} - \eta^{\mu\rho}\eta^{\nu\kappa} - i\epsilon^{\mu\nu\rho\kappa}\right)$$
 (A.2)

where $\epsilon_{0123} = +1$.

$$\begin{split} \theta^{\alpha}\theta^{\beta} &= -\frac{1}{2}\epsilon^{\alpha\beta}\left(\theta\theta\right); \quad \bar{\theta}^{\dot{\alpha}}\bar{\theta}^{\dot{\beta}} = \frac{1}{2}\epsilon^{\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}}\left(\bar{\theta}\bar{\theta}\right); \\ \theta_{\alpha}\theta_{\beta} &= \frac{1}{2}\epsilon_{\alpha\beta}\left(\theta\theta\right); \quad \bar{\theta}_{\dot{\alpha}}\bar{\theta}_{\dot{\beta}} = -\frac{1}{2}\epsilon^{\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}}\left(\bar{\theta}\bar{\theta}\right) \end{split}$$

The derivatives with respect to a Grassmann variable are defined as follows:

$$\partial_{\alpha} \equiv \frac{\partial}{\partial \theta^{\alpha}}; \ \ \partial^{\alpha} \equiv -\epsilon^{\alpha\beta}\partial_{\beta}; \ \ \bar{\partial}_{\dot{\alpha}} \equiv \frac{\partial}{\partial\bar{\theta}^{\dot{\alpha}}}; \ \ \bar{\partial}^{\dot{\alpha}} \equiv -\epsilon^{\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}}\bar{\partial}_{\dot{\beta}}.$$

This implies that

$$\begin{aligned} \partial_{\alpha}\theta^2 &= 2\theta_{\alpha}; \quad \partial^{\alpha}\theta^2 = -2\theta^{\alpha}; \\ \bar{\partial}_{\dot{\alpha}}\bar{\theta}^2 &= -2\bar{\theta}_{\dot{\alpha}}; \quad \bar{\partial}^{\dot{\alpha}}\bar{\theta}^2 = 2\bar{\theta}^{\dot{\alpha}}. \end{aligned}$$

Appendix B

D-type terms

In this appendix, we list the products that can be formed as D-type terms.

- 1. $H_{ABC}H_{ABC}$ where $(H_{ABC}H_{ABC})^* = H_{CBA}H_{CBA} = H_{ABC}H_{ABC}$ and is self adjoint.
- 2. $H_{ABC}H_{ACB}$ where $(H_{ABC}H_{ACB})^* = H_{CBA}H_{BCA} = H_{ABC}H_{BAC}$
- 3. $H_{ABC}H_{BCA}$ where $(H_{ABC}H_{BCA})^* = H_{CBA}H_{ACB} = H_{ABC}H_{BCA}$ and is self adjoint.
- 4. $H_{ABC}H_{CAB}$ where $(H_{ABC}H_{CAB})^* = H_{CBA}H_{BAC} = H_{ABC}H_{CAB}$ is self adjoint
- 5. $H_{ABC}H_{CBA}$ where $(H_{ABC}H_{CBA})^* = H_{CBA}H_{ABC}$ and is self adjoint
- 6. $H_A H_A^*$ is self adjoint
- 7. $H_A H_A$ where $(H_A H_A)^* = H_A^* H_A^*$
- 8. $\epsilon^{ABCD}H_{ABC}H_D$ where $(\epsilon^{ABCD}H_{ABC}H_D)^* = -\epsilon^{ABCD}H_{ABC}H_D^*$

- 9. $\epsilon^{ABCD} H_{ABE} H_{CDE}$ where $\left(\epsilon^{ABCD} H_{ABE} H_{CDE}\right)^* = \epsilon^{ABCD} H_{EBA} H_{EDC}$ = $\epsilon^{ABCD} H_{EAB} H_{ECD}$
- 10. $\epsilon^{ABCD}H_{AEB}H_{CED}$ where $(\epsilon^{ABCD}H_{AEB}H_{CED})^* = \epsilon^{ABCD}H_{AEB}H_{CED}$ is self adjoint
- 11. $\epsilon^{ABCD}H_{AEB}H_{ECD}$ where $(\epsilon^{ABCD}H_{AEB}H_{ECD})^* = \epsilon^{ABCD}H_{AEB}H_{CDE}$
- 12. $\epsilon^{ABCD}H_{EAB}H_{CDE}$ where $(\epsilon^{ABCD}H_{EAB}H_{CDE})^* = \epsilon^{ABCD}H_{BAE}H_{EDC}$ = $\epsilon^{ABCD}H_{EAB}H_{CDE}$ is self adjoint.

Appendix C Components of the Superfields

The components of the basic field H_{ABC} to all orders in θ and $\bar{\theta}$ are given

• No $\theta, \bar{\theta}$ terms:

by

 $2\psi_A\sigma_B\bar{\psi}_C$

• θ terms:

 $2\sqrt{2}i \ \psi_A \sigma_B \bar{\sigma}_C \theta + 2\sqrt{2}i \ \psi_A \sigma_B \bar{\sigma}^{\mu} \theta \ \partial_{\mu} \chi_C^* + 2\sqrt{2}\theta \sigma_B \bar{\psi}_C \ F_A$

• $\bar{\theta}$ terms:

$$-2\sqrt{2}i \ \bar{\theta}\bar{\sigma}_A\sigma_B\bar{\psi}_C - 2\sqrt{2}i \ \bar{\theta}\bar{\sigma}^{\mu}\sigma_B\bar{\psi}_C \ \partial_{\mu}\chi_A + 2\sqrt{2}\psi_A\sigma_B\bar{\theta} \ F_C^{\dagger}$$

• $\theta\theta$ terms:

$$4i \eta_{BC} F_A \theta \theta + 4i F_A \partial_B \chi_C^* \theta \theta$$

• $\bar{\theta}\bar{\theta}$ terms:

$$-4i \ \eta_{BA} F_C^{\dagger} \bar{\theta} \bar{\theta} - 4i \ F_C^{\dagger} \ \partial_B \chi_A \bar{\theta} \bar{\theta}$$

• $\theta\bar{\theta}$ terms:

$$-2i \left(\theta\sigma_{B}\bar{\psi}_{C}\right)\left(\partial_{\mu}\psi_{A}\sigma^{\mu}\bar{\theta}\right) - 2i \left(\theta\partial_{\mu}\psi_{A}\right)\left(\bar{\theta}\bar{\sigma}^{\mu}\sigma_{B}\bar{\psi}_{C}\right) + 2i \left(\psi_{A}\sigma_{B}\bar{\theta}\right)\left(\theta\sigma^{\mu}\partial_{\mu}\bar{\psi}_{C}\right) + 2i \left(\psi_{A}\sigma_{B}\bar{\sigma}^{\mu}\theta\right)\left(\bar{\theta}\partial_{\mu}\bar{\psi}_{C}\right) + 4 \bar{\theta}\bar{\sigma}_{A}\sigma_{B}\bar{\sigma}_{C}\theta + 4 \bar{\theta}\bar{\sigma}_{A}\sigma_{B}\bar{\sigma}^{\mu}\theta \partial_{\mu}\chi_{C}^{*} + 4 \bar{\theta}\bar{\sigma}^{\mu}\sigma_{B}\bar{\sigma}_{C}\theta \partial_{\mu}\chi_{A} + 4 \bar{\theta}\bar{\sigma}^{\mu}\sigma_{B}\bar{\sigma}^{\nu}\theta \partial_{\mu}\chi_{A}\partial_{\nu}\chi_{C}^{*} + 4\theta\sigma_{B}\bar{\theta} F_{A}F_{C}^{\dagger}$$

• $\theta \theta \overline{\theta}$ terms:

$$-\sqrt{2}i \left(\bar{\theta}\bar{\sigma}^{\mu}\sigma_{B}\bar{\psi}_{C}\right)\theta\theta\partial_{\mu}F_{A} - \sqrt{2} \left(\psi_{A}\sigma_{B}\bar{\theta}\right)\theta\theta\partial_{\mu}\partial^{\mu}\chi_{C}^{*} + \sqrt{2}i \left(\partial_{\mu}\bar{\psi}_{C}\bar{\sigma}^{\mu}\sigma_{B}\bar{\theta}\right)\theta\theta F_{A} + 2\sqrt{2}i \left(\bar{\theta}\partial_{B}\bar{\psi}_{C}\right)\theta\theta F_{A} + 3\sqrt{2} \left(\partial_{\mu}\psi_{A}\sigma^{\mu}\bar{\theta}\right) \eta_{BC}\theta\theta + 3\sqrt{2} \left(\partial_{\mu}\psi_{A}\sigma^{\mu}\bar{\theta}\right) \partial_{B}\chi_{C}^{*}\theta\theta - \sqrt{2}i \bar{\theta}\bar{\sigma}^{F}\partial^{\mu}\psi_{A} \epsilon_{\mu B C F}\theta\theta - \sqrt{2}i \bar{\theta}\bar{\sigma}^{F}\partial^{\mu}\psi_{A}\partial^{\nu}\chi_{C}^{*} \epsilon_{\mu B \nu F}\theta\theta - \sqrt{2}\bar{\theta}\bar{\sigma}_{C}\partial_{B}\psi_{A}\theta\theta + \sqrt{2}\bar{\theta}\bar{\sigma}_{B}\partial_{C}\psi_{A}\theta\theta - \sqrt{2} \bar{\theta}\bar{\sigma}_{\mu}\partial_{B}\psi_{A} \partial^{\mu}\chi_{C}^{*}\theta\theta + \sqrt{2} \bar{\theta}\bar{\sigma}_{B}\partial_{\mu}\psi_{A} \partial^{\mu}\chi_{C}^{*}\theta\theta$$

• $\theta \bar{\theta} \bar{\theta}$ terms:

$$\begin{split} \sqrt{2}i & \left(\psi_A \sigma_B \bar{\sigma}^{\mu} \theta\right) \bar{\theta} \bar{\theta} \partial_{\mu} F_C^{\dagger} + 3\sqrt{2} & \left(\theta \sigma^{\mu} \partial_{\mu} \bar{\psi}_C\right) \eta_{BA} \bar{\theta} \bar{\theta} + 3\sqrt{2} & \left(\theta \sigma^{\mu} \partial_{\mu} \bar{\psi}_C\right) \partial_B \chi_A \bar{\theta} \bar{\theta} \\ & -\sqrt{2}i & \left(\partial^{\nu} \bar{\psi}_C \bar{\sigma}^F \theta\right) \bar{\theta} \bar{\theta} \epsilon_{AB\nu F} - \sqrt{2}i & \left(\partial^{\nu} \bar{\psi}_C \bar{\sigma}^F \theta\right) \bar{\theta} \bar{\theta} & \partial^{\mu} \chi_A \epsilon_{\mu B\nu F} - \sqrt{2} & \left(\partial_B \bar{\psi}_C \bar{\sigma}_A \theta\right) \bar{\theta} \bar{\theta} \\ & +\sqrt{2} & \left(\partial_A \bar{\psi}_C \bar{\sigma}_B \theta\right) \bar{\theta} \bar{\theta} - \sqrt{2} & \left(\partial_B \bar{\psi}_C \bar{\sigma}_\mu \theta\right) \bar{\theta} \bar{\theta} & \partial^{\mu} \chi_A + \sqrt{2} & \left(\partial_\mu \bar{\psi}_C \bar{\sigma}_B \theta\right) \bar{\theta} \bar{\theta} & \partial^{\mu} \chi_A \\ & -\sqrt{2}i & \left(\theta \sigma_B \bar{\sigma}^{\mu} \partial_\mu \psi_A\right) \bar{\theta} \bar{\theta} F_C^{\dagger} - 2\sqrt{2}i & \left(\theta \partial_B \psi_A\right) \bar{\theta} \bar{\theta} F_C^{\dagger} - \sqrt{2} & \left(\theta \sigma_B \bar{\psi}_C\right) \bar{\theta} \bar{\theta} & \partial_{\mu} \partial^{\mu} \chi_A \end{split}$$

• $\theta \theta \overline{\theta} \overline{\theta}$ terms:

$$\begin{split} &\frac{1}{2}\psi_{A}\sigma_{B}\partial_{\mu}\partial^{\mu}\bar{\psi}_{C} + \frac{1}{2}\partial_{\mu}\partial^{\mu}\psi_{A}\sigma_{B}\bar{\psi}_{C} + 2i\ F_{A}\partial_{B}F_{C}^{\dagger} - 2i\ F_{C}^{\dagger}\partial_{B}F_{A} \\ &+ 2i\ \eta_{AB}\partial_{\mu}\partial^{\mu}\chi_{C}^{*} - 2i\ \eta_{BC}\partial_{\mu}\partial^{\mu}\chi_{A} + 2i\ \partial_{B}\chi_{A}\partial_{\mu}\partial^{\mu}\chi_{C}^{*} - 2i\ \partial_{B}\chi_{C}^{*}\partial_{\mu}\partial^{\mu}\chi_{A} \\ &- \frac{3}{2}\partial_{B}\psi_{A}\sigma_{\mu}\partial^{\mu}\bar{\psi}_{C} - \frac{3}{2}\partial^{\mu}\psi_{A}\sigma_{\mu}\partial_{B}\bar{\psi}_{C} + \frac{1}{2}\partial^{\mu}\psi_{A}\sigma_{B}\partial_{\mu}\bar{\psi}_{C} \\ &+ \frac{1}{2}\partial^{\mu}\bar{\psi}_{C}\bar{\sigma}_{\mu}\partial_{B}\psi_{A} + \frac{1}{2}\partial_{B}\bar{\psi}_{C}\bar{\sigma}_{\mu}\partial^{\mu}\psi_{A} - \frac{1}{2}\partial_{\mu}\bar{\psi}_{C}\bar{\sigma}_{B}\partial^{\mu}\psi_{A} \end{split}$$

C.1 D-type terms

- 1. For the superfield $\bar{H}_{ABC}\bar{H}^{BCA}$:
 - $C = 0, \ \xi = 0, \ M = -8 \ \left(\psi_A \sigma_B \bar{\sigma}^A \psi^B\right)$
 - $V_{\mu} =$ quadratic, $\lambda =$ quadratic
 - $D = -16 \left(\partial_{\mu} \chi_{A} \partial^{\mu} \chi^{A} + \partial_{\mu} \chi^{*}_{A} \partial^{\mu} \chi^{A*} \right) + 32 \left(\partial_{\mu} \chi_{A} \partial^{\mu} \chi^{A*} + \partial^{A} \chi_{A} \partial^{B} \chi^{*}_{B} \right)$ + $80 F_{A} F^{A*} - 8 \epsilon^{ABCD} \psi_{A} \sigma_{B} \partial_{C} \bar{\psi}_{D} - 8i \left(\psi_{A} \sigma^{A} \partial_{B} \bar{\psi}^{B} + \psi_{A} \sigma^{B} \partial^{A} \bar{\psi}_{B} \right)$ - $56i \psi_{A} \sigma^{\mu} \partial_{\mu} \bar{\psi}^{A} + 32 \bar{e} \partial_{A} \chi^{A} + 32 \bar{e} \partial_{A} \chi^{A*} + 32 \bar{e}^{2}$

where V_{μ} and λ don't affect our results since they will give terms with higher orders.

- 2. $\bar{H}_{AB}{}^B\bar{H}_C{}^{CA}$:
 - $C = 0, \xi = 0, M = 16 \left(\psi_A \sigma^A \bar{\sigma}^B \psi_B \right)$
 - V_{μ} = quadratic, λ = quadratic
 - $D = 32 \left(\partial_{\mu} \chi_{A} \partial^{\mu} \chi^{A} + \partial_{\mu} \chi^{*}_{A} \partial^{\mu} \chi^{A*} \right) + 32 \partial^{A} \chi_{A} \partial^{B} \chi^{*}_{B} + 128 \partial_{\mu} \chi_{A} \partial^{\mu} \chi^{A*}$ + $272 F_{A} F^{A*} + 8 \epsilon^{ABCD} \psi_{A} \sigma_{B} \partial_{C} \bar{\psi}_{D} - 8i \left(\psi_{A} \sigma^{A} \partial_{B} \bar{\psi}^{B} + \psi_{A} \sigma^{B} \partial^{A} \bar{\psi}_{B} \right)$ - $200i \psi_{A} \sigma^{\mu} \partial_{\mu} \bar{\psi}^{A} + 96 \bar{e}^{2} + 128 \bar{e}^{a}_{\mu} \bar{e}^{\mu}_{a} + 96 \bar{e} \partial_{A} \chi^{A} + 96 \bar{e} \partial_{A} \chi^{A*}$ + $128 \bar{e}^{\mu}_{A} \partial_{\mu} \chi^{A} + 128 \bar{e}^{\mu}_{A} \partial_{\mu} \chi^{A*}$

and the third

3.
$$(D\Phi_A D\Phi_B) (\bar{D}\Phi^{B*}\bar{D}\Phi^{A*})$$
:

- $C = 0, \ \xi = 0, \ M = 0$
- $V_{\mu} = 0, \lambda =$ quadratic
- $D = 32 \left(\partial^A \chi_A \partial^B \chi_B^* + \partial_\mu \chi_A \partial^\mu \chi^{A*} \right) + 80 F_A F^{A*} 8 \epsilon^{ABCD} \psi_A \sigma_B \partial_C \bar{\psi}_D$ - $8i \left(\psi_A \sigma^A \partial_B \bar{\psi}^B + \psi_A \sigma^B \partial^A \bar{\psi}_B \right) - 56i \psi_A \sigma^\mu \partial_\mu \bar{\psi}^A + 64 \bar{e}^a_\mu \bar{e}^\mu_a$ + $64 \bar{e}^\mu_A \partial_\mu \chi^A + 64 \bar{e}^\mu_A \partial_\mu \chi^{A*}$

C.2 F-type terms

The components of the F-type terms are

1. $\overline{D}^2 \left(D \Phi_A \sigma^{AB} D \Phi_B \right)$:

• $z = -96i - 48i \ \partial^A \chi_A - 48i \ \bar{e} - 16i \ \bar{e} \partial^A \chi_A - 32i \ \bar{e}^{\mu}_A \partial_{\mu} \chi^A + 8i \ \bar{e}^A_{\mu} \bar{e}^{\mu}_A$ $-8i \ \bar{e}^2$

•
$$X_{\alpha} = -4\sqrt{2} \left(\sigma^{AB}\psi_{A}\right)_{\alpha}\partial_{\mu}\partial^{\mu}\chi_{B} - 16\sqrt{2}i \left(\partial^{A}\psi_{A}\right)_{\alpha}\partial^{B}\chi_{B}$$

 $-48\sqrt{2}i \left(\partial^{A}\psi_{A}\right)_{\alpha} + 16\sqrt{2}i \left(\partial^{A}\psi_{B}\right)_{\alpha}\partial^{B}\chi_{A}$

• h = total derivative

h is a total derivative, therefore it won't affect our calculations. The components of the other term are

- 2. $\bar{D}^2 \left(D \Phi_A D \Phi^A \bar{D} \Phi_B^* \bar{D} \Phi^{B*} \right)$:
 - $z = -128 \ \bar{\psi}_A \bar{\psi}^A$
 - $X_{\alpha} = 128\sqrt{2}i \left(\sigma^{B}\bar{\psi}_{B}\right)_{\alpha}\partial^{A}\chi_{A} + 64 \times 4\sqrt{2}i \left(\sigma^{\nu}\bar{\psi}_{B}\right)_{\alpha}\partial_{\nu}\chi_{B}^{*}$

•
$$h = -64 \times 4 \left(\partial_{\mu} \chi_A \partial^{\mu} \chi^A + \partial_{\mu} \chi^*_A \partial^{\mu} \chi^{A*} + \partial^A \chi_A \partial^B \chi^*_B \right) - 64 \times 2 F_A F^{A*}$$

 $- 64 \epsilon^{ABCD} \psi_A \sigma_B \partial_C \bar{\psi}_D + 64i \left(\psi_A \sigma^A \partial_B \bar{\psi}^B + \psi_A \sigma^B \partial^A \bar{\psi}_B + \psi_A \sigma^{\mu} \partial_{\mu} \bar{\psi}^A \right)$
 $- 64 \times 16 - 64 \times 16 \bar{e} - 64 \times 8 \bar{e}^A_\mu \bar{e}^\mu_A - 64 \times 4 \bar{e}^2$
 $+ 64 \left(\bar{e} \partial_A \chi^A + \bar{e} \partial_A \chi^{A*} \right) + 64 \times 4 \left(\bar{e}^\mu_A \partial_\mu \chi^A + \bar{e}^\mu_A \partial_\mu \chi^{A*} \right).$

References

- H. Samtleben, Introduction to Supergravity, Lectures presented at the 13th Saalburg School on Fundamentals and New Methods in Theoretical Physics, Sep. 3-14, 2007.
- [2] A. Salam A. H. Chamseddine and J. A. Strathdee. Strong gravity and supersymmetry. Nucl. Phys. B, 136:248, 1978.
- [3] A. Vikman A. H. Chamseddine, V. Mukhanov. Cosmology with mimetic matter. arXiv:1403.3961., 2014.
- [4] L. Alberte, A. Chamseddine, and V. Mukhanov. Massive gravity: exorcising the ghost. *JHEP*, 1104:04, 2011.
- [5] K. Stelle and P. West. Minimal auxiliary fields for supergravity. *Physics letters* B, 74:330, 1978.
- [6] J. L. Anderson and P. G. Bergmann. Constraints in covariant field theories. *Phys. Rev.*, 83:1018, 1951.
- [7] A. Ashtekar. New variables for classical and quantum gravity. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 57:2244, 1986.
- [8] A. Ashtekar. New hamiltonian formulation of general relativity. *Physical Review D*, 36:1587, 1987.
- [9] D. Bailin and A. Love. Supersymmetric GaugeField Theory and String Theory. CRC Press, 1994.
- [10] A. O. Barvinsky. Dark matter as a ghost free conformal extension of einstein theory. *arXiv:1311.3111.*, 2013.
- [11] P. G. Bergmann. Non-linear field theories. *Phys. Rev.*, 75:680, 1949.
- [12] M. Bojowald. Canonical Gravity and Applications. Cambridge University Press, 2011.
- [13] D. G. Boulware and S. Deser. Can gravity have a finite range? Phys. Rev. D, 6:3368, 1972.

- [14] J.D. Brown and K.V. Kuchar. Dust as a standard of space and time in canonical quantum gravity. *Physical Review D*, 51:5600, 1995.
- [15] P. G. Bergmann J.H.M. Brunings. Non-linear field theories ii. canonical equations and quantizations. *Rev. Mod. Phys.*, 21:480, 1949.
- [16] G. Gabadadze C. de Rham and A. J. Tolley. Resummation of massive gravity. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 106:231101, 2011.
- [17] G. Dvali C. Deffayet and G. Gabadadze. Accelerated universe from gravity leaking to extra dimensions. *Phys. Rev.*, D, 65:044023, 2002.
- [18] G. Gabadadze C. Deffayet, G. R. Dvali and A. I. Vainshtein. Nonperturbative continuity in graviton mass versus perturbative discontinuity. *Phys. Rev. D*, 65:044026, 2002.
- [19] A. Salam C. J. Isham and J. A. Strathdee. F-dominance of gravity. Phys. Rev. D, 3:867, 1971.
- [20] K. S. Throne C. W. Misner and J. A. Wheeler. Gravitation. W. H. Freeman, 1973.
- [21] A. Chamseddine and V. Mukhanov. Higgs for graviton: Simple and elegant solution. *Journal of High Energy Physics*, 08:11, 2010.
- [22] A. Chamseddine and V. Mukhanov. Massive gravity simplified: A quadratic action. Journal of High Energy Physics, 08:91, 2011.
- [23] A. Chamseddine and P. West. Supergravity as a gauge theory of supersymmetry. Nuclear Physics B, 129:39, 1977.
- [24] A. H. Chamseddine and V. Mukhanov. Mimetic dark matter. JHEP, 1311:135, 2013.
- [25] A. H. Chamseddine and M. S. Volkov. Cosmological solutions with massive gravitons. *Physics Letters B*, 704:652, 2011.
- [26] S. Coleman and J. Mandula. All possible symmetries of the s-matrix. Phys. Rev., 159:1251, 1967.
- [27] P. van Nieuwenhuizen D. Z. Freedman and S. Ferrara. Progress toward a theory of supergravity. *Phys. Rev. D*, 13:3214, 1976.
- [28] P. van Nieuwenhuizen Daniel Z. Freedman and S. Ferrara. Progress toward a theory of supergravity. *Phys. Rev. D*, 13:3214, 1976.
- [29] A. Das and D. Z. Freedman. Gauge quantization for spin- $\frac{3}{2}$ fields. Nuclear Physics B, 114:271, 1976.
- [30] C. de Rham and G. Gabadadze. Generalization of the fierz-pauli action. Phys. Rev. D, 82:4, 2010.

- [31] C. de Rham and G. Gabadadze. Selftuned massive spin-2. *Phys. Lett. B*, 693:334, 2010.
- [32] C. Deffayet. Cosmology on a brane in minkowski bulk. Phys.Lett., B, 502:199, 2001.
- [33] S. Deser and C. J. Isham. Canonical vierbein form of general relativity. *Physical Review D*, 14:2505, 1976.
- [34] S. Desser and B. Zumino. Consistent supergravity. *Phys. Lett. B*, 62:335, 1976.
- [35] B. S. Dewitt. Quantum theory of gravity. i. the canonical theory. *Physical Review*, 160:5, 1967.
- [36] P. A. M. Dirac. Generalized hamiltonian dynamics. Canad, J. Math., 2:129, 1950.
- [37] P. A. M. Dirac. The hamiltonian form of field dynamics. Canad, J. Math., 3:1, 1951.
- [38] P. A. M. Dirac. Fixation of coordinates in the hamiltonian theory of gravitation. *Phys. Rev.*, 114:924, 1959.
- [39] P. A. M. Dirac. Interacting gravitational and spinor fields Recent Developments in General Relativity. Pergamon Press, New York, 1962.
- [40] P. A. M. Dirac. Lectures on Quantum Mechanics. Yeshiva University Press, New York, 1964.
- [41] P. A. M. Dirac. The theory of gravitation in hamiltonian form. Proc. Roy. Soc. A, 246:333, 1985.
- [42] R. Ziour E. Babichev, C. Deffayet. Recovering general relativity from massive gravity. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 103:201102., 2009.
- [43] L. Girardello E. Cremmer, S. Ferrara and A. Van Proeyen. Yang-mills theories with local supersymmetry: Lagrangian, transformation laws and super-higgs effect. *Nuclear Physics B*, 212:413, 1983.
- [44] A. Einstein. The foundation of the general theory of relativity. Annalen Phys., 49:796 – 822., 1916.
- [45] S. Ferrara and P. van Nieuwenhuizen. The auxiliary fields of supergravity. *Physics Letters B*, 74:333, 1978.
- [46] M. Fierz and W. Pauli. On relativistic wave equations for particles of arbitrary spin in an electromagnetic field. *Proc. Roy. Soc. Lond. A*, 173:211 232, 1939.
- [47] G. Gabadadze G. Dvali and M. Shifman. Diluting cosmological constant in infinite volume extra dimensions. *Phys. Rev.*, D, 67:044020, 2003.

- [48] S. Hofmann G. Dvali and J. Khoury. Degravitation of the cosmological constant and graviton width. *Phys. Rev.*, D, 76:084006, 2007.
- [49] G. Gabadadze G. R. Dvali and M. Porrati. 4d gravity on a brane in 5d minkowski space. *Phys. Lett. B*, 485:208, 2000.
- [50] Golovnev. On the recently proposed mimetic dark matter. *Physics Letters B*, 728:39, 2014.
- [51] M. Henneaux and C. Teitelboim. Quantization of Gauge Systems. Princeton University Press, Princeton, 1992.
- [52] Z. Kakushadze. Massless limit of gravitational higgs mechanism. Int. J. Geom. Meth. Mod. Phys., 05:157, 2008.
- [53] T. W. B. Kibble. Canonical variables for the interacting gravitational and dirac fields. J. Math. Phys., 4:1433, 1963.
- [54] A. Chamseddine L. Alberte and V. Mukhanov. Massive gravity: Resolving the puzzle. *Journal of High Energy Physics*, 12:23, 2010.
- [55] P. Ramond L. Brink, M. Gell-Mann and J. H. Schwarz. Extended supergravity as geometry of superspace. *Physics Letters B*, 76:417, 1978.
- [56] P. Ramond L. Brink, M. Gell-Mann and J. H. Schwarz. Supergravity as geometry of superspace. *Physics Letters B*, 74:336, 1978.
- [57] S.W. MacDowell and F. Mansouri. Unified geometric theory of gravity and supergravity. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 38:739, 1977.
- [58] O. Malaeb. Massive gravity with n=1 local supersymmetry. *Eur. Phys. J. C*, 73:2549, 2013.
- [59] O. Malaeb. Supersymmetrizing massive gravity. *Phys. Rev. D*, 88:025002, 2013.
- [60] O. Malaeb. Hamiltonian formulation of mimetic gravity. arXiv:1404.4195, 2014.
- [61] V. Mukhanov. *Physical Foundations of Cosmology*. Cambridge University Press, 2005.
- [62] H. Georgi N. Arkani-Hamed and M. D. Schwartz. Effective field theory for massive gravitons and gravity in theory space. Ann. Phys., 305:96 – 118, 2003.
- [63] P. Nath, R. Arnowitt, and A. Chamseddine. Applied N=1 Supergravity. World Scientific Publishing, 1984.
- [64] S. Deser R. Arnowitt and C. W. Misner. Dynamical structure and definition of energy in general relativity. *Phys. Rev.*, 116:1322, 1959.
- [65] S. Deser R. Arnowitt and C. W. Misner. Canonical variables for general relativity. *Physical Review*, 117:1595, 1960.

- [66] S. Deser R. Arnowitt and C. W. Misner. Consistency of the canonical reduction of general relativity. J. Math. Phys., 1:434, 1960.
- [67] S. Deser R. Arnowitt and C. W. Misner. Republication of: The dynamics of general relativity. *General Relativity and Gravitation*, 40:1997, 2008.
- [68] J.T. Lopuszanski R. Haag and M.F. Sohnius. All possible generators of supersymmetries of the s-matrix. Nucl. Phys. B, 88:257, 1975.
- [69] J. S. Schwinger. Quantized gravitational field. *Phys. Rev.*, 130:1253, 1963.
- [70] J. S. Schwinger. Quantized gravitational field ii. *Phys. Rev.*, 132, 1963.
- [71] W. Siegel. Hidden gravity in open-string field theory. *Phys.Rev. D*, 49:4144, 1994.
- [72] G. 't Hooft. Unitarity in the brout-englert-higgs mechanism for gravity. arXiv:0708.3184, 2007.
- [73] M. Yamaguchi D. Yoshida T. Kobayashi, M. Siino. New cosmological solutions in massive gravity. *Phys. Rev. D*, 86:061505, 2012.
- [74] C. Teitelboim. The Hamiltonian structure of space-time, General Relativity and Gravitation: One Hundred Years After the Birth of Albert Einstein, volume Vol.
 1, A. Held. Plenum Press, New York, 1980.
- [75] A. I. Vainshtein. To the problem of nonvanishing graviton mass. *Phys. Lett. B*, 39:393, 1972.
- [76] H. van Dam and M.J.G. Veltman. Massive and massless yang-mills and gravitational fields. Nucl. Phys. B, 22:397, 1970.
- [77] P. van Nieuwenhuizen. Supergravity. *Physics reports*, 68:189, 1981.
- [78] J. Wess and J. Bagger. Supersymmetry and Supergravity. Princeton University Press, 1992.
- [79] J. Wess and B. Zumino. Supergauge transformations in four dimensions. Nuclear Physics B, 70:39 – 50, 1974.
- [80] V. I. Zakharov. Linearized gravitation theory and the graviton mass. JETP Lett., 12:312, 1970.